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Dear Shareholder
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This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2010.
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The Day Omnicane Was Born

Appropriately entitled ‘year of genesis’, the final Annual Report 
of MTMD Limited (now Omnicane Limited) last year gave a full 
account of the origination, creation and birth of the Omnicane 
brand, along with an extensive exposé of all that it means and 
implies for our company in terms of values, vision and vocation.
The brand’s launching ceremony was held on 18 June 2009, with 
the Dr The honourable navinchandra Ramgoolam, gcSK, fRcP, 
Prime Minister of the Republic of Mauritius, as the chief guest. 
The venue was the company’s newly built bulk-sugar warehouse 
of a capacity of 55,000 tonnes, for the storage of plantation-
white sugar between milling and refining, at La Baraque. The 
ceremony was attended by Ministers, Members of the national 
Assembly and of the Diplomatic corps, officials of the public and 
private sectors, Management of sugar-related institutions and 
companies, and representatives of all the stakeholders of the 
sugar-cane industry. The national anthem was sung by  a choir 
composed of staff members of the company.
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The function was widely covered by the media, including live transmission by television. Information on the event is available 
on the company Web site at http://www.omnicane.com.

In his introductory welcome speech, Mr cyril Mayer, 
chairperson of the Board of Directors, laid emphasis on the 
challenges facing the company and the industry at large, 
and on the paramount importance of reform to ascertain 
economic viability. Our chief executive Officer, Mr Jacques 
Marrier d’unienville, retraced, in a PowerPoint presentation, 
the various events that had led to the realisation of the 
company’s state-of-the-art flexi–factory project, an 
industrial complex of world standard, at La Baraque. This 
had involved investments of Rs 1.2 billion for upgrading 
the sugar factory, Rs 1.2 billion for the new sugar refinery, 
and Rs 4 billion for the new co-generation plant. further 
investments of Rs 3.4 billion over the next three years have 
been envisaged to complete the modernisation process 
and ensure operational competitiveness. new ventures to 
harness other renewable-energy sources such as wind, and 
to increase energy output from waste, have been initiated. 
The company’s overall investments in the space of just a few 
years will thus amount to some Rs 11 billion, representing 
a formidable act of faith in the future. Omnicane will be 
producing 40% of the national sugar output and one-third 
of the electricity generated in the island. It is therefore the 
largest sugar- and independent power-producer in Mauritius.

The new logo of the Omnicane group was then unveiled with 
the assistance of state-of-the-art audiovisual technology. 
The logo, which is inspired by the molecular structure of 
Ozone, consists of three rings symbolising, in blue, cold 
vital energy in the form of refined sugar; in orange, thermal 
vital energy from biomass and coal; and in green, distilled 
vital energy in the form of bio–fuel, mainly bio-ethanol. At 
the intersection of the rings lies the concept of integrated 
energies and sustainable production governing the actions 

After the speeches, the Prime Minister unveiled the plaques inaugurating the flexi-factory, the refinery and the co-generation 
plant.  With the company’s chairperson, its ceO and other distinguished personalities, he then proceeded on a tour of the 
factory, the refinery and the co-generation plant. he declared the 2009 sugar-cane campaign officially open by symbolically 
throwing a bunch of cane stalks into the factory’s cane-conveyor. At the end of the ceremony, the Prime Minister wrote in the 
visitors’ book: “This is indeed a defining moment in the history of our country which is linked with the sugar cane industry. I wish 
to congratulate the ceO and his team for their leadership, a vision which others should follow. ”    

“This is indeed a defining moment in the history of our 
country which is linked with the sugar cane industry. I wish 
to congratulate the CEO and his team for their leadership, 
a vision which others should follow.” 

Dr The Honourable Navinchandra Ramgoolam

of the group. The group’s industrial activities are fully 
integrated, and thus meticulously planned, controlled and 
orchestrated for optimum flexibility, maximum efficiency, 
minimal waste, and recycling for the benefit of the society 
at large, in line with national socio -economic policies.

In his address, the honourable Prime Minister stated that 
the industry and the nation had been wise to transform 
challenges into opportunities. The option of converting the 
sugar industry into a sugar-cane industry was strategic. It 
would allow the industry to face the future with confidence 
in a world dominated by globalisation and unprecedented 
socio-economic changes. The economic development 
of the country, he recalled, was largely driven by the 
sugar industry which was deeply rooted in the Mauritian 
community. The deep and audacious reforms that 
government had introduced in recent years had given to 
the industry and to the country the economic and financial 
breathing–space that they needed to withstand the present 
period of economic crisis. The Prime Minister expressed 
the wish that the industrial-cluster concept, illustrated by 
Omnicane, would be adopted by the country’s other sugar-
cane producers, to complete the reform process. 

The Prime Minister, the company’s chairperson and 
the company’s  ceO all expressed their gratitude to the 
european union, through its representative in Mauritius, 
her excellency  Mrs claudia Wiedey, and the european 
commissioner for Development, Mr Louis Michel, for 
the assistance received in the framework of the Multi 
Annual Adaptation Strategy. Without this assistance, they 
unanimously stated, reform and transformation of the 
industry would not have been possible.
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Mr Jacques M. 
d’Unienville presenting 
the Company and 
leading to the launching 
of brand Omnicane

The staff choir singing the 
National Anthem

The Prime Minister, 
Dr The Honourable 
Navinchandra 
Ramgoolam, being 
welcomed by Mr Cyril 
Mayer, Chairperson, 
and Mr Jacques M. 
d’Unienville, CEO, of 
Omnicane Limited

The Prime Minister marking 
the official opening of the 2009 
sugar cane crop

HE Mrs Claudia Wiedey, 
Ambassador and Head of 
Delegation of the European 
Commission to the Republic of 
Mauritius with Dr the Honourable 
Arvin Boolell, Minister of Foreign 
Affairs, Regional Integration and 
International Trade
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Official guests at 
Launching Ceremony

The Prime Minister, 
Dr The Honourable 
Navinchandra 
Ramgoolam, delivering 
his address

The Prime Minister 
visiting the flexi-factory 
and its associated 
facilities after 
unveiling the plaques 
commemorating their 
inauguration

The brochure which was 
distributed to guests to 
mark the launching of 
brand Omnicane
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In addition to the launching of the Omnicane brand, there was no dearth 
of events at Omnicane during the year under review, given the group’s 
dynamic and innovative nature and the diversity of its activities in the 
agricultural,industrial, financial, and societal fields. The photographs 
featured in the following pages highlight just a few of the group’s special 
occasions in 2009.
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Mr Jacques M. d’Unienville, 
proclaimed “Le Mauricien de 
l’Année 2009” by the daily, 
L’express

Visit of The Honourable 
Jean François Chaumière, 
Minister of Labour, Industrial 
Relations and Employment

HE The Rt Honourable Sir 
Anerood Jugnauth, GCSK, 
KCMG, QC, President of 
the Republic of Mauritius 
and Lady Jugnauth at the 
prize-giving ceremony 
of the 2008 Omnicane 
Award

The launching, by Dr 
The Honourable Ahmed 
Rashid Beebeejaun, GCSK, 
Deputy Prime Minister, 
Minister of Renewable 
Energy and Public 
Utilities, of the wind-
resource assessment 
phase of the Group’s 
wind-farm project

P. 10



The Group’s CEO with the 
children of Omnicane 
employees who 
performed best at the 
CPE examinations

Commemoration of 
the arrival of the first 
consignment of Mauritian 
refined sugar at Genoa, 
Italy, with officials of 
the Mauritius Sugar 
Syndicate, Südzucker, and 
the CEOs of Omnicane 
and FUEL

Omnicane’s contribution 
to relief efforts in Haiti

The winning team of 
the Omnicane inter-
departmental football 
competition

The Group’s CEO with The 
Honourable Vasant Bunwaree, 
Minister of Education and Human 
Resource at the 25th anniversary 
of the Mauritius Heart Foundation, 
during which a 15-seat utility van 
was donated by Omnicane in the 
framework of its CSR activities
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ADMINISTRATION

Managers & Secretaries

Omnicane Management & consultancy 
Limited

Registered Office

7th floor, Anglo-Mauritius house
Adolphe de Plevitz Street, Port Louis

Postal Address

P.O. Box 159, Port Louis

Telephone

(230) 212 3251

Telefax

(230) 211 7093

e-mail

info@omnicane.com

Transfer Secretaries

Mauritius computing Services Ltd
18 edith cavell Street
Port Louis

Auditors

BDO & co

Legal Advisers

Robert Ahnee c.S.K.

De comarmond & Koenig

Benoit chambers

Bankers

AfrAsia Bank Limited

Barclays Bank plc

SBI (Mauritius) Ltd

Bramer Banking corporation Ltd

Bank One Limited

The hongkong and Shanghai 

Banking corporation Ltd

The Mauritius commercial Bank Ltd

Mauritius Post and cooperative  
Bank Ltd

State Bank of Mauritius Ltd

Banque des Mascareignes Ltée

corporate Advisors

Infinite corporate finance Ltd

notary

etude Maigrot 

ADMINISTRATION
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GROUP STRUCTURE

OMnIcAne LIMITeD

cane growing

  Omnicane Milling Operations LimitedOperations Limited 100%

Britannia Estate 100%

Highlands Estate 100%

Omnicane Logistic Operations Limited 100%

Sugar Milling

Omnicane Milling Holdings (Mon Trésor) Limited 80%

       Omnicane Milling Operations Limited  16.85%

Omnicane Milling Holdings (Britannia Highlands) Limited 80%

      Omnicane Milling Operations Limited 68.13%

energy Production

Omnicane Thermal Energy Holdings (St Aubin) LImited 100%

       Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited 60% 

Omnicane Holdings (La Baraque) Thermal Energy Limited  100%

       Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited 60%

Other Activities

The Mauritius Development Investment Trust Co. Ltd (MDIT) 18%

Exotic Exports Ltd 100%

Floreal Ltd 100%

Omnicane Logistic Operations Limited 100%

Sud Concassage Ltée 15%

GROUP STRUCTURE

OMnIcAne LIMITeD

cane growing

Omnicane Agricultural Operations Limited 100%
       (Mon Trésor,  Britannia,  highlands) 

Omnicane Logistic Operations Limited 100%

Sugar Milling

Omnicane Milling holdings (Mon Trésor) Limited 80%

       Omnicane Milling Operations Limited  16.85%

Omnicane Milling holdings (Britannia highlands) Limited 80%

      Omnicane Milling Operations Limited 83.149%

energy Production

Omnicane Thermal energy holdings (St Aubin) LImited 100%

       Omnicane Thermal energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited 60% 

Omnicane holdings (La Baraque) Thermal energy Limited  100%

       Omnicane Thermal energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited 60%

Other Activities

exotic exports Ltd 100%

floreal Ltd 100%

Omnicane Logistic Operations Limited 100%

GROUP STRUCTURE
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nOn-execuTIVe chAIRPeRSOn

Cyril Mayer
Bcom, cA (SA)
Managing Director, harel frères Ltd

execuTIVe

Jacques M. d’Unienville
Bcom
chief executive Officer

Christian Foo Kune
Diploma in Agriculture and Sugar Technology
Diplôme Supérieur en Administration des entreprises
Deputy chief executive Officer

Nelson Mirthil
chief financial Officer
fccA

nOn-execuTIVe

Georges Leung Shing
BSc (econ), fcA, ATII
consultant

Ravin Bholah
(Alternate: chandan Lautan)
fccA
chief Operating Officer, Sugar Investment Trust

Marc Hein
(Alternate: nishi I. Vythilingum-Kichenin)
LLB (hons), Licence-en-Droit
Barrister, head of Jurisconsult chambers

Jacques de Navacelle
Maîtrise de Philosophie
chief executive Officer, Mauritius union
Assurance co. Ltd

Ritesh Sumputh
(Alternate: geerendra gocool)
LLB (hons)
Barrister

Bertrand Thevenau
general Manager
Tropic Knits Limited

Anbanaden Veerasamy
Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Social Security, national Solidarity and
Senior citizens

Hugues Maigrot
notary Public

BOARD Of DIRecTORS

The following directors held office at 31 December 2009:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS at 31 December 2009
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT at 31 December 2009

NAME POST JOINED

d’UNIENVILLE, Jacques M. Chief Executive Officer, Omnicane Group 2005

AH-CHAM, Eddie Company Secretary, Omnicane Group 1996

AUDIBERT, Francois Field Manager, Omnicane Limited - Agricultural Operations 1977

AUFFRAY, Sabine Human Resource Coordinator, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 1997

AUMEERUDDY, Aboo Chief Strategy Officer, Omnicane Group 2008

AUTREY, Jean Claude Science and Technology Coordinator, Omnicane Group 2008

BOREL, Emmanuel Power Plant Manager, Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited 2006

CABOCHE, Jean Luc Site Manager, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - St Aubin 1991

CALLEECHURN, Prithviraj Assistant Plant Manager, Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited 2007

CHASTEAU DE BALYON, Gerard Consultant, Omnicane Group 2009

DALAIS, Jocelyn Estate Accountant, Omnicane Limited - Agricultural Operations 1980

DE GUARDIA DE PONTE, Joseph Garage and Transport Manager,  Omnicane Limited - Agricultural Operations- Britannia 1990

FAYOLLE, Lindsay Operations Manager, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 1976

FOO KUNE, Christian Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Omnicane Group 1984

GOUPILLE, Roger Mée Garage and Transport Manager, Omnicane Limited - Agricultural Operations - Mon Trésor 1992

GRENADE, Sylvain Operations Accountant, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 1987

JULIEN, Jean Pierre Maintenance Manager, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 1997

KONG WIN CHANG, Jack Chief Operations Officer, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 1975

LUTCHMANEN, Rudley Financial Accountant, Omnicane Group 2004

MAMET, Patrick Regional Manager, Omnicane Limited - Agricultural Operations, Britannia 1980

MAUREL, Guy Technical Manager (Projects), Omnicane Milling Operations Limited- La Baraque 1973

MIRTHIL, Nelson Chief Finance Officer, Omnicane Group 2003

MOHUN, Navinduth Internal Auditor, Omnicane Group 2005

MOTET, Jean Marc Regional Manager, Omnicane Limited- Agricultural Operations, Mon Trésor 1975

MUSAI, Ravin Assistant Plant Manager, Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited 2004

NG MAN CHUEN, Jean Luc Project & Finance Accountant, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 2003

PLANCHE, Gaetan Chief Purchasing Officer, Omnicane Group 1971

RAMLUGON, Rajivsingh Safety & Environmental Manager, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 2007

ROBERT, Frederic Plant Manager, Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited 2005

SAGNIER, Pierre Project Development Manager, Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) 
Limited 2008

SEEBARUTH, Oodesh Group Accountant & Head of Treasury, Omnicane Group 1989

SEELARBOKUS, Hahmid Human Resources Manager, Omnicane Limited- Agricultural Operations 2000

SOOBANY, Imran Finance Manager, Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque & St Aubin) Limited 2007

THEVENAU, Daniel Site Manager, Omnicane Milling Operations Limited - La Baraque 1978

SENIOR MANAGEMENT at 31 December 2009
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Mon Trésor

Britannia

Highlands

Benares

Omnicane Milling Operations Limited

Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited
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•

•

•

•

•

•

••

•

•
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Growing

Energy
Production

Sugar
Milling LogisticsFlowers

PLAINES WILHEMS
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GRAND PORT
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Highlands

Riche en Eau

Mon Trésor

Britannia
La Baraque

Benares
Union St Aubin

OPERATING LOCATIONS & OPERATIONSOPERATING LOCATIONS & OPERATIONS
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATION DATA

financial Data

2009 2008 2007

earnings per share 3.86 4.24 3.00

Dividend per share 2.00 2.00 2.50

Return on equity - % 4.4 4.8 3.4

net Asset Value per share - Rs 86.88 87.9 88.2

gearing - % 47 47 * 1

effective tax rate - % 6.5 (2.5) 4.6

no of ordinary shares - (‘000) 67,012 67,012 67,012 

*  After acquisition of controlling interest in OMOL (ex cSS) and energy companies

Operational Data

2009 2008 2007

Area harvested  (hectares) 2,817 2,878 2,901

cane production  (tonnes) 260,948 248,092 242,254

Sugar produced  (tonnes) 26,946 24,765 24,626

Sugar accrued as planter (tonnes) 21,018 19,317 19,205

cane yield per hectare 92.6 86.2 83.5

Sugar yield per hectare 9.6 8.6 8.5

number of agricultural workers per hectare 0.10 0.12 0.22

Area harvested mechanically / total harvest area (%) 59.25 57.28 41.62

Sugar accrued (@ 98.5 pol) as miller (tonnes) 32,838 32,527 30,794

Total sugar produced (@ 98.5 pol) as miller (tonnes) 149,364 147,522 140,160
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KEY FIGURES

2007 2008
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Omnicane’s flexi-factory at La Baraque
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

OVERVIEW

In the year under review, the company’s modernisation programme continued with the construction 
and coming into operation of our state-of-the-art sugar refinery (capacity: 600 tonnes a day) and of its 
warehouse (capacity: 55,000 tonnes) for the bulk storage of plantation-white sugar between milling 
and refining. The flexi-factory at La Baraque reached its cruising phase after further improvement to 
its cane-reception facilities, accompanied by other fine-tuning operations. higher efficiency was thus 
achieved in our overall milling process, which included the processing of cane syrup produced by our 
unit at union St Aubin. 

Omnicane Milling Operations Limited has entered into an agreement with Alcodis holding, with a 
view to acquiring a controlling interest in its subsidiary Alcodis Ltd, which produces bio-ethanol from 
cane molasses. 

In its quest for harnessing further renewable sources of energy, the company completed its wind-
farm project’s initial phase, consisting in measuring wind speeds at the proposed site, with positive 
results, and presented the complete project to government and to the central electricity Board (ceB). 
Other new ventures, including a carbon-burn-out project for additional energy generation and the 
production of a so-called ‘green cement’ for the construction industry, were also explored.

On the agricultural-production front, enhanced cane productivity was cause for satisfaction, and 
efforts to ensure national self-sufficiency in potatoes were advanced by the creation of copéSud 
(Mauritius) Ltée, a cooperative venture regrouping producers of the island’s southern region, aiming 
at producing 10,000 tonnes of the commodity in the short-to-medium term, and having its cold-
storage facilities in the company’s former sugar factory at Britannia.

d’Unienville Jacques M. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT (Continued)

“The Group’s turnover  
jumped to Rs 3.2 billion, 
from Rs 460.5 million  
in 2008.”

“Operating profit increased 
sharply to Rs 697.2 million, 
thanks to the consolidation 
of our energy and milling 
companies.”

“The Group’s total assets 
rose by Rs 523 million to 
reach Rs 15.2 billion in 2009, 
mainly as a result of 
investments made for the 
refinery’s plant.”

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Income Statement

After the company’s acquisition of a controlling interest in the group’s milling and energy 
companies in late December 2008, the results of these companies are this year consolidated 
for the first time. for this reason, the 2009 group figures in the Income Statement are not 
comparable with those of 2008.

The group’s turnover jumped to Rs 3.2 billion, from Rs 460.5 million in 2008. This ranks 
Omnicane group in the top 20 companies in Mauritius in terms of turnover. The main 
contributor to this performance is our energy segment, with a turnover of Rs 2.3 billion. 
This segment is made up of Omnicane Thermal energy (La Baraque) Limited and Omnicane 
Thermal energy (St Aubin) Limited.

Operating profit increased sharply to Rs 697.2 million, thanks to the consolidation of our 
energy and milling companies. The main contributor was our energy segment, with Rs 650.2 
million. for its part, the sugar segment’s result was significantly reduced by the sugar-price 
decrease linked with the eu sugar-sector reform, and the delay in our refinery’s start of 
operations. The final tranche (of 19%) of the sugar-price reduction resulting from the eu sugar-
sector reform and totalling 36% since 2006, became effective on 1 October 2009. It coincided 
with the phasing-out of the Sugar Protocol of the eu/AcP Partnership Agreement and of its 
triple guarantees of price, access and duration.

The financing, mainly through bank loans, of the group’s energy projects, the upgrading 
of our sugar factory at La Baraque and our acquisition of shares in the group’s milling and 
energy entities resulted in much higher finance costs of Rs 648.2 million (2008: Rs 5.2 million), 
which severely affected our results. 

exceptional items of Rs 285.8 million are profit on the sale of land (Rs 23.7 million) and on the 
disposal of our entire shareholding in the Mauritius Development Investment Trust Ltd (MDIT) 
(Rs 262.1 million).

earnings per Share and Dividend Distribution

earnings per share were down by 9% at Rs 3.86 (2008: Rs 4.24), but the dividend per share was 
maintained at Rs 2.00.

The dividend payment represented 51.8% of distributable earnings (47.2% in 2008) 

cash flow Statement

The group’s movement in cash and cash equivalents during the financial year was marginal. 
The cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year was Rs 1,081.5 million, compared with Rs 
1,174.5 million at the end of the year. 

The main movements to be noted in the cash flow Statement are the following:

 • A net inflow of Rs 510.2 million from operating activities, as compared with an outflow 
of Rs 0.3 million in 2008. This surplus was due mainly to the consolidation of the energy 
segment

• A net outflow from investing activities, amounting to Rs 611.6 million (2008: Rs 754.7 
million). This was due mainly to capital expenditure made for the construction of the 
refinery

• A marginal net movement in cash flow from financing activities as an additional loan of Rs 
381.7 million was offset by a repayment of Rs 246.3 million for loan servicing.

Balance Sheet

The group’s assets are underpinned primarily by its land base and by its milling and energy 
companies’ plant and equipment.

The group’s total assets rose by Rs 523 million to reach Rs 15.2 billion in 2009, mainly as a result 
of investments made for the refinery’s plant.

The group’s gearing ratio, which was 53.7% in 2008 rose to 56.0% at end of 2009. This increase 
was due mainly to the use of bank loans for financing part of the refinery project cost.
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“The share price of Omnicane 
increased by 25.8% from  
Rs 62.00 to Rs 78.00 during 
the financial year. The share-
price movement during the 
period was in line with that 
of the Semdex.”

“During 2009, Omnicane 
remained in the SEM-7, 
which comprises the seven 
largest companies on the 
SEM’s Official List, in terms 
of market capitalisation and 
liquidity.” 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued) 

net Asset Value (nAV)

The group’s nAV per share amounted to Rs 86.88, compared with Rs 87.90 the previous year, a 
slight decrease of 1.16%. The profit of Rs 258.4 million for the year was marginally offset by the 
release of a revaluation surplus resulting from the company’s sale of its MDIT shares and its 
dividend payment of Rs 2.00 per share.

Share Price Performance

The share price of Omnicane Limited increased by 25.8% from Rs 62.00 to Rs 78.00 during 
the financial year. The share-price movement during the period was in line with that of the 
Semdex.

The Semdex’s 40.4% increase during the year was fuelled by the rise in hotel and bank stocks, 
which in 2008 were more affected than sugar-company shares by the global financial crisis.

The price of Omnicane Limited bottomed at Rs 54.00 a share on 13 March 2009, but picked 
up afterwards to reach a high of Rs 87.50 on 26 October 2009, on the back of the company’s 
announcement of its intention to sell its entire shareholding in MDIT.

The company ranked sixth in terms of market capitalisation, and at 31 March 2010 eighth in 
terms of annualised return since listing, amongst all SeM-listed companies.

During 2009, Omnicane remained in the SeM-7, which comprises the seven largest companies 
on the SeM’s Official List, in terms of market capitalisation and liquidity. 
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Sale of Shareholding in MDIT

In line with the group’s business plan to sell non-core assets to finance investments made 
to consolidate its industrial base, the Board approved the sale of the company’s entire 
shareholding in MDIT on 21 December 2009 to golden foundation, a company whose 
members include three directors of Omnicane Limited, for an amount of Rs 323 million. This 
amount works out at Rs 5.06 per MDIT share, which is higher than the quoted price of Rs 4.65 
for MDIT shares at that date. This transaction generated a net profit of Rs 262.1 million.

The sale being a related-party transaction under the listing rules of the SeM, an independent 
valuation was carried out by ernst & young, who confirmed that the value at which the 
transaction was made was reasonable and fair to the shareholders of Omnicane Limited. 

AGRICULTURE

Sugar cane

favourable rainfall in november and December 2008 provided a good start for the 2009 crop. 
Weather conditions with abundant and well-distributed rainfall continued throughout the 
vegetative period until May, and was conducive to good cane growth. cane height at the end 
of May was better than the long-term average for both Mon Trésor and Britannia by 10% and 
stood at 237 and 257 cm respectively.

continuous rainy conditions prevailed during the maturation period, with flood conditions 
occurring in October and november 2009. These persistent rains affected sucrose 
accumulation but contributed to further growth in late-maturing varieties. Overall, conditions 
were better than in the previous year and resulted in a production of 260,948 tonnes of cane 
from 2,817 hectares harvested in the group’s three sites of operation, giving an average cane 
and sugar yield of 92.63 tonnes and 9.57 tonnes per ha, respectively. These yields represent an 
increase of 7.3 % and 11.1 % respectively over 2008. Britannia region recorded a cane yield of 
104.5 tonnes per ha, and Benares section’s cane productivity of 115.3 tonnes cane per ha was 
the best in the whole island of Mauritius.

Some 157,845 tonnes of cane were mechanically harvested, representing an increase of 11 % 
over 2008’s figure of 142,110 tonnes.

Potato cultivation

The group’s potato production in 2009 reached 2,100 tonnes, 10 % more than the previous 
year’s 1,900 tonnes, although the harvest was deferred by some four weeks as a result of the 
delayed coming into operation of copéSud’s cold-storage facilities. forty percent of the crop 
was mechanically harvested in bulk, using the new AVR harvester rented from ceAL, whereas 
the harvest of the remaining sixty percent was only partially mechanised. In 2010, the share of 
total harvest mechanisation is scheduled to reach 75 %.

2007 2008

Total area harvested 
(hectares)

2009

2,901

2,817
2,878

2007 2008

Total cane harvested 
(tonnes)

2009

242,254

260,948

248,092
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AGRICULTURE (Continued)

Sugar Milling 

In 2009, the group crushed a total of 1,478,597 tonnes of sugar cane at its two mills of La 
Baraque and union St Aubin (uSA), and produced a total of 148,281 tonnes of raw and 
plantation-white sugar (PWS, for its newly built refinery at La Baraque). All the sugar was 
manufactured at La Baraque, whilst uSA concentrated its cane juice into syrup, which was 
then transported to La Baraque for processing into PWS. for that reason, all cane and sugar 
production figures and performances are consolidated into one set of data for La Baraque.

comparative Performance Data

The climatic conditions that prevailed in 2009 were again not conducive to optimal cane 
ripening, and resulted in a mill extraction rate comparable to the previous year’s. Sucrose 
content for the two Omnicane mills increased slightly, to 11.64%, from 11.40% in 2008, as a 
result of the clean cane campaign.

The total of sugar cane crushed (1.48 million tonnes) was 1% less than in 2008 (1.49 million 
tonnes); but the total of sugar produced (148,281 tonnes, inclusive of 58,277 tonnes of raw 
for direct export) was 1% more than in 2008 (146 702 tonnes). The sugar-extraction rate was 
10.04%, compared with 9.84% in 2008. 

Our factory at La Baraque manufactured all the group’s sugar, but accounted for 75.8% of the 
group’s total of cane crushed. The balance of 24.2% was crushed by uSA. comparative ratios 
for 2009 were 73.9% and 26.1% respectively. La Baraque crushed on average 6,903 tonnes of 
cane a day, over 162 days (12 days more than in 2008) and also processed the cane syrup from 
uSA. Reduced supply on extremely rainy days affected the daily crushing-rate; the factory can 
crush up to 8,500 tonnes a day.

uSA for its part crushed a total of 358,472 tonnes of cane over 162 days, which works out at an 
average of 2,213 tonnes a day and a factory overall time efficiency of 72.2% (2008: 74.2%). The 
reduced tonnage and crushing-rate had a negative effect on the factory’s energy export from 
bagasse to the national grid, which fell by 10.5% to 17,335 MWh.

It is worth noting that, in 2009, factory stoppages due to lack of cane, at La Baraque and uSA, 
amounted to 128 and 90 hours respectively, compared with 97 and 160 hours in 2008. 

With sugar production carried out at La Baraque only, and PWS accounting for 60% of it, the 
group’s consolidated reduced overall recovery (ROR) in 2009 was 86.0%, only 0.1 percentage 
point lower than in 2008 and than the industry’s average in Mauritius.

cane unloading Zones

The improvements made in 2008 to the cane-reception facilities at the sites of the various 
factories closed down in the context of the industry’s centralisation reduced mechanical 
stoppages by some 10% to 234 hours in 2009 (2008: 261 hours).

The projected relocation of the Rose Belle loading zone to make room for new developments 
such as the centre commercial du Vieux Moulin, was postponed.

In general, turnaround times for tractors and other cane transporters were improved, leading 
to higher transport efficiency.

2007 2008

Sugar yield
(tonnes sugar per hectare)

2009

8.5

9.6

8.6

2007 2008

Average yield
(tonnes cane per hectare)

2009

83.5

92.6
86.2
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SERVICES TO PLANTERS

Planters Regrouping Schemes

At gros Bois-1, a total area of 12 ha, regrouping fields owned by 3 planters and which had 
been cropped with potato in 2008, was de-rocked and re-planted with the cane variety R 579 
in early 2009. This undertaking was monitored by the company’s Planters’ Adviser & cane 
Supply coordinator, whilst The Savannah Sugar estates company Limited acted as the main 
contractor and provided the expertise, management and other resources necessary to carry 
out the work. 

Three other sites were proposed by the Mauritius Sugar Authority and included in the group’s 
small-planter regrouping scheme.

1) At Deux Bras, a total area of 14 ha, regrouping fields belonging to 27 planters, was planted 
with the cane varieties M 703/89 (3 ha) and R 579 (11 ha). 

2) At gros Bois-2, a total area of 15 ha, regrouping fields owned by 16 planters, was planted 
with the cane variety R 579.

3) At Mare chicose, a total area of 24 ha, regrouping fields belonging to 11 planters, was 
planted with the cane varieties M 387/85 (2 ha) and R 579 (22 ha). 

Regrouping small planters is notoriously difficult, and constituting an economically viable 
block of small fields is a time-consuming process. The farmers’ Service corporation (fSc) is 
taking the leading role in liaising with small planters in pursuit of this essential approach to 
sustainable crop production.

facilities to Planters 

Advice as to the choice of cane varieties for newly planted fields and the use of appropriate 
herbicides was given to small planters on demand.

The company’s Service Department provided to new planters who had acquired sugar cane 
plots from Sugar Investment Trust Land holdings Ltd. (SITLh) the necessary information 
about how to proceed with their registration with the Sugar Insurance fund Board (SIfB), the 
Mauritius Sugar Syndicate (MSS) and other institutions.

As a service, cane chains were supplied on request to planters, via their transport providers, at 
a nominal rent coupled with a deposit whenever required.

furthermore, the transfer to La Baraque of some of the cane received at loading zones 
was contracted out to private individual lorry owners as part of the company’s policy to 
encourage local stakeholders to participate in, and benefit from, economic activities related 
to sugar-cane production.

2007 2008

Total sugar produced (@ 
98.5 pol) as miller (tonnes)

2009

140,160

149,364
147,522

2007 2008

Sugar accrued (@ 98.5 pol) 
as miller (tonnes)

2009

30,794

32,838
32,527
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“Tests carried out during 
the 2009 crop to determine 
extraneous -matter content 
yielded lower values on the 
whole”

“every effort was made 
to minimise delaying the 
refinery’s production target 
date”

clean cane campaign

With the assistance of the Sugar Millers and Planters Arbitration and control Board, the 
Mauritius Sugar Industry Research Institute (MSIRI) and the fSc, the company’s Service 
Department organised several meetings with planters and transport operators during the 
year. At these meetings, stress was laid on the need to supply fresh cane with low extraneous-
matter content, as this affected process efficiency in sugar production.

Tests carried out during the 2009 crop to determine extraneous -matter content yielded lower 
values on the whole (with an average of 8% and 12% respectively for whole and mechanically 
harvested cane) than in 2008, suggesting that the information campaign was bearing fruit. 
Planters who supplied burnt cane as a result of accidental fires were closely monitored with 
the help of the fSc. 

The awareness campaign for clean cane is continuing in 2010. 

Meetings with Planters

In the year under review, the group held four meetings with its planters, on the traditional 
‘factory-area’ basis, according to the following schedule:

• For the Bel Ombre and St Félix factory areas, on 14 May 2009

• For the Savannah factory area, on 20 May 2009

• For the Britannia factory area, on 22 May 2009

• For the Mon Trésor, Riche en Eau and Rose Belle factory areas, on 27 May 2009

At each of these meetings, the following matters were discussed:

• Cane- and sugar-production forecasts for 2009

• Start of crop, and cane quotas for the various weighbridges concerned

• Corrective measures for reducing factory stoppage and improving cane reception

• New equipment installed at the Group’s factory at La Baraque

• Planters Regrouping Scheme

• Visits of the factory during the crop season

These meetings were also attended by representatives of the cane Planters and Millers 
Arbitration and control Board and of the MSIRI, who had the opportunity to address the 
planters.

REFINERY OPERATIONS

Delivery of the bulk of the refinery equipment, ordered from Turkey and expected to arrive 
in Mauritius in the first week of January 2009, was delayed by shipping problems and 
breakdowns. The equipment was received on site 12 weeks late, as from 20 April 2009. Items of 
equipment from other suppliers were installed where practical, and every effort was made to 
minimise delaying the refinery’s production target date.
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“The first refined white 
sugar produced by the 
refinery came out of the 
centrifugals two days later, 
on 18 September 2009”

“The warehouse, of a 
capacity of 55,000-tonnes,
was ready to operate in 
June 2009 and received its 
first sugar consignment for 
storage on 21 August 2009”

even though some of the equipment had yet to be installed, cold commissioning was 
initiated on 8 August 2009, 85 days behind schedule.

This was followed by hot commissioning, with the melting of a first batch of plantation-white 
sugar (PWS) on 16 September 2009. The first refined white sugar produced by the refinery 
came out of the centrifugals two days later, on 18 September 2009, and was re-circulated to 
PWS stock until all process tanks, silos and other equipment had been cleaned.

As with all new industrial plants, numerous teething problems were experienced and the 
personnel needed time to learn about, and to adapt to, the new process and the stringent 
requirements associated with the production of refined white sugar for direct consumption. 
Leaks were detected in the conditioning silo, which therefore had to be emptied, cleaned and 
water-proofed (at the contractor’s expense) before production could resume. 

The refinery’s production rate was fairly low initially, at 25% capacity, but was increased to 
50% gradually, and subsequently in increments of 10% a week at the request of Südzucker 
for the purpose of monitoring the keeping quality of the conditioned sugar for shipping in 
containers.

A ‘quality management system’ audit was performed by Mrs Maria Klemens and Mr Bernd 
Strecker of Südzucker on 23 and 24 november 2009 and by Mr Denis Bourrée, Technical 
Manager, on 2 and 3 December. upon receipt of the audit report and corrective action plan 
from Mrs Klemens and Mr Strecker and of the audit and recommendation from Mr Bourrée, 
the necessary actions were undertaken to improve the overall process.

At the end of December 2009, despite all the constraints, the refinery had produced 3,643 
tonnes of refined white sugar, of which 1,573 tonnes was sold on the local market; 300 tonnes 
was exported in containers to Südzucker; and the balance was kept in the conditioning silo, as 
a buffer stock for ongoing production and export in containers.

The refinery was stopped for one week on 31 December, and some repairs and modifications 
were effected to improve the production process. Production resumed on 4 January 2010, 
using sugar from the company’s bulk-PWS warehouse. 

The warehouse, of a capacity of 55,000-tonnes, was designed by David Keir and Associates, 
and its civil components – comprising foundations, flooring and retention walls – were built 
by Rhem grinaker construction co. Ltd. The warehouse’s steel structure and roofing were 
ordered from Zamil Steel Buildings (Vietnam) co. Ltd and erected by eDcc co. Ltd, who also 
supplied and installed the belt conveyors, whereas all the cladding was supplied by Profilage 
Océan Indien Ltd. The warehouse was ready to operate in June 2009 and received its first 
sugar consignment for storage on 21 August 2009.
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“The total of electricity 
exported by the Group in 
2009 (617,571 MWh) was 
lower than in 2008 (743,721 
MWh) because of reduced 
energy demand from the CEB 
in 2009” 

ENERGY 

The group has three units involved in electric-power generation: two at St Aubin and one at 
La Baraque.

One of the units at St Aubin is part of Omnicane Milling Operations Limited and generates 
electric power in a 12-MW backpressure-type bagasse cogeneration plant. It supplies the 
company’s uSA mill with its steam and electricity requirements, and any surplus electricity 
that it produces is exported to the national grid.

The group’s other power plant at St Aubin is owned and operated by Omnicane Thermal 
energy Operations (St. Aubin) Limited, and is equipped with a 34.5-MW condensing-type 
turbine. It has been in operation since 2005.

for its part, the group’s third power plant, which is owned and operated by Omnicane 
Thermal energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited, is one of the largest bagasse- and coal-fired 
cogeneration plants in the world and is equipped with two units of 44.5 MW each. They are of 
the condensing type with extraction and they use either bagasse or coal as fuel. During the 
2009 sugar-cane crop season, the plant received 353,597 tonnes of bagasse from the group’s 
sugar mill at La Baraque.

In 2009, the group’s three power plants exported to the national grid a total of 617,571 MWh of 
electricity, with details as follows:

Power 
Plant

Electricity 
Exported in
 2009 (MWh)

Exported Electricity as 
a Percentage of Total 

Electricity Generated in 
Mauritius in 2009

Omnicane Thermal energy Operations 
(La Baraque) Limited 423,112 18.6%

Omnicane Thermal energy Operations 
(St Aubin) Limited 177,124  7.8%

Omnicane Milling Operations Limited 
at St Aubin 17,335  0.7%

Total 617.571 27.1 %

The total of electricity exported by the group in 2009 (617,571 MWh) was lower than in 2008 
(743,721 MWh) because of reduced energy demand from the ceB in 2009. 

The operating profit of Omnicane Thermal energy Operations (St. Aubin) Limited decreased 
slightly to Rs 208.9 million (2008: Rs 217.9 million). finance costs due to loan repayments  
were slightly down, at Rs 100.9 million . The company’s net profit for the year amounted to  
Rs 81.9 million.

The company’s operating results for 2010 are expected to improve slightly in comparison with 
2009, mainly because of lower finance costs.

ceB and other IPPs - 72.9 %

Omnicane Thermal energy 
Operations (St Aubin)  
Limited - 7.8 %

Omnicane Milling Operations 
(St Aubin) Limited - 0.7 %

Omnicane Thermal energy 
Operations (La Baraque)  
Limited - 18.6 %
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“generated a turnover of Rs 
1.5 billion for the year, down 
from Rs 1.7 billion in 2008. 
This was due to a decrease in 
the price of coal.” 

“The development plan was 
submitted to the Mauritius 
Sugar Authority and the 
necessary clearances were 
obtained from all the 
relevant authorities and 
institutions.”

Omnicane Thermal energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited generated a turnover of Rs 1.5 
billion for the year, down from Rs 1.7 billion in 2008. This was due to a decrease in the price of 
coal. The company’s operating profit of Rs 484.1 million for the year was also less than in 2008, 
when it amounted to Rs 558.5 million. After deducting finance costs of Rs 346 million, the 
company’s net profit for the year was Rs 127.8 million, slightly lower than the Rs 130.3 million 
achieved in 2008.

LAND-DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN THE FRAMEWORK OF VRS 2 

Britannia and Benares

The site agreed for the 209 former employees of Britannia Sugar estate and Benares Sugar 
Limited benefiting from VRS 2 is 8 ha at Tyack, Rivière de Anguilles.

The firm appointed by the company to provide consultancy services for the implementation 
of the project is Servansingh Jadav & Partners consulting engineers Ltd. Location plans were 
forwarded in April 2008 to the Mauritius Sugar Authority, which circulated the plans to all the 
relevant authorities and service-providing institutions for their views and comments. 

In June 2008, the Water Resources unit (WRu) informed the company that it could not 
recommend the proposed site as it lay within the submergence zone of the Rivière des 
Anguilles Dam Project. After discussions with the WRu and the Mauritius Sugar Authority, the 
initial layout was modified, and the WRu gave its approval for the site in november 2008.

The land-development plan for the site was then finalised and clearances were obtained from 
all authorities concerned – with the exception of the Traffic Management and Road Safety 
unit (TMSRu), which requested that access to Savanne Road be modified. This was done, and 
the final land-development plan was submitted to the Morcellement Board on 8 february 
2010, so that the letter of intent (LOI) may now finally be issued.

Mon Trésor

The sites agreed for the former employees of Mon Trésor Sugar estate benefiting from VRS 2 
are 0.5 ha at Trois Boutiques for 15 beneficiaries, and 10 ha at Mémoire, Plaine Magnien, for 268 
beneficiaries.

The firm appointed by the company to provide consultancy services for the implementation 
of these two land-development projects is gexim Land consultants Ltd. The development 
plan was submitted to the Mauritius Sugar Authority and the necessary clearances were 
obtained from all the relevant authorities and institutions. finally, LOIs for both sites were 
issued on 24 november 2009. All infrastructural work is to be completed to the satisfaction of 
the Morcellement Board within a period of fifteen months from that date.

however, it is stipulated in the LOI for the Plaine Magnien site that a reservoir of 2000 m3 has 
to be constructed. This issue is still being discussed with the central Water Authority and the 
Mauritius Sugar Authority, and has not yet been resolved.
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”in line with the Maurice Ile 
Durable concept, the Group 
has embarked on a project 
for creating a 22-MW wind 
farm at Britannia”

”results of this wind 
assessment for the past 8 
months indicate that the 
Britannia site has a good 
wind regime”

“It is expected that the 
22-MW wind farm will 
represent an annual emission 
reduction of about 44,000 
tons of CO2 equivalent”

NEW PROJECTS

Wind farm at Britannia

In its endeavour to expand its activities in the field of renewable energy and to be in line with 
the Maurice Ile Durable concept, the group has embarked on a project for creating a 22-MW 
wind farm at Britannia in partnership with Aérowatt (Mauritius) Ltd, a subsidiary of Aérowatt 
(france). Our objective in doing so is to generate renewable electricity using available wind-
power resources, and to sell the electricity to the national grid in Mauritius on the basis of  
a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) with the state electricity utility, the central electricity 
Board (ceB).

As a prerequisite to this project, a continuous assessment of the wind resources obtaining 
on the site has been carried out since february 2009, using two 60-m masts fitted with 
anemometers and wind gauges at heights of 60 m, 50 m, and 40 m. The results of this wind 
assessment for the past 8 months indicate that the Britannia site has a good wind regime, 
with an average speed of 6.05 m/s at a height 70 m (the hub height of a wind turbine). 
furthermore, it is estimated that with 22 MW installed on the site, a net average of 37.4 gWh 
can be produced annually. The investment cost of the project is expected to be around  
Rs 2.1 billion.

The corporate structure envisaged for the project would involve the following:

1 The creation of a project company owned as to 51% by Omnicane and as to 49% by 
Aérowatt (Mauritius)

2 The creation of an operating company to operate the wind farm

3 The project company would hold 60% of the operating company, leaving the remaining 
40% open to participation by the public and by such interested parties as the ceB,  
among others

The group is being assisted by the unDP’s MDg carbon facility in applying to the executive 
Board of the clean Development Mechanism for the trading of emission reductions arising 
from the wind-farm project. It is expected that the 22-MW wind farm will represent an annual 
emission reduction of about 44,000 tons of cO2 equivalent, which can then be sold on 
the carbon market. The buyer of the emission reductions would be fortis Bank, which can 
guarantee a floor price of 10 euros per ton of cO2 equivalent.

The group will now undertake PPA negotiations with the ceB with regard to this project.  
In the event that the negociations are conclusive, the wind farm could be in operation by  
mid-2012.
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“is to burn the extra carbon 
in our power plants’ fly ash 
and bottom ash – to reduce 
their carbon content from 
20% to 5% so that the ‘final 
product’ obtained may 
advantageously be mixed 
with bulk cement”

carbon Burn–Out (cBO) Project

Various research has been carried out across the world, on how the fly ash and bottom ash 
produced by the burning of coal in some industries might be put to good use in others, 
notably in the construction industry. But the presence of a high level of residual carbon in 
these by-products has so far been a major impediment to such use.

The idea behind our cBO project is to burn the extra carbon in our power plants’ fly ash 
and bottom ash – to reduce their carbon content from 20% to 5% so that the ‘final product’ 
obtained may advantageously be mixed with bulk cement for the construction industry; and, 
in doing so, to produce extra electricity and steam for our sugar refinery at La Baraque.

A feasibility study of a cBO unit with a Thermax circulating fluidised-bed boiler was 
performed in 2009 (detailed arrangement, warranted performances), after which it 
was decided to perform, in May 2010,a combustion test on a pilot plant scaled ¼ of the 
demonstration unit (30 t/h of steam), with two containers of 15 tonnes of coal, bottom ash and 
fly ash.

The group furthermore signed, in December 2009, with holcim, a collaborative-research 
agreement to assess the feasibility of bulk-cement blends with a ‘cBO final product’ content 
of up to 15%.

Preliminary planning indicates a time lag of 23 months between approval of the project and 
hot commissioning of the demonstration unit.

TRIBUTE TO MR CYRIL MAYER

We take this opportunity to express our sincere thanks and appreciation to Mr cyril Mayer for 
his sustained contribution and actions as chairperson during the past nine years at the helm 
of the group.

As the first chairperson of Omnicane, he has been instrumental in making our group a 
reputed institution at home and overseas.

Jacques M. d’unienville
Chief Executive Officer

hugues Maigrot 
Director
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Refined sugar for Europe.
A major step for Mauritius.

Omnicane Limited Annual Report 2009   P. 39



REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

Omnicane Limited (formerly Mon Trésor and Mon Désert Limited, incorporated in 1926 
under the laws of Mauritius) is a public company forming part of the Official List of the Stock 
exchange of Mauritius. It is governed by a modern constitution based on the provisions of the 
companies Act 2001. 

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

corporate governance relates to the role and responsibilities of directors charged by 
shareholders with taking proper strategic decisions to be implemented by Management. 
Directors have the further duty to ensure that their decisions establish and maintain sound 
relationships with all the stakeholders of the enterprise.

Omnicane Limited is guided by the above principles and is fully committed to comply with 
the code of corporate governance for Mauritius.

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

The company has a unitary Board consisting of twelve directors, nine of whom are non-
executive. The Board has the ultimate responsibility for corporate policy and strategy and 
effectively leads and controls the company and its subsidiaries. Board meetings are held 
on a quarterly basis and whenever the Board needs to consider and decide on important 
issues relating to the group’s business. furthermore, the directors may from time to time, 
between meetings, take decisions by resolutions in writing in accordance with the company’s 
constitution. Such written resolutions are signed by all directors and are circulated with 
the Board papers at the next quarterly meeting for confirmation. Board meetings are also 
attended by senior members of staff, who report on operations, and by the company’s 
consultants, who provide expert advice. At the quarterly meetings, a report is presented by 
the chief executive Officer on the financial performance of the company, and actual results 
are compared with those of the previous year’s corresponding period and with the budget. 
The report summarises issues affecting the group’s business, notably its agricultural, milling, 
and energy operations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Apiendebit excepta simagnient eos arum quis del 
molorib usdaecere volorem re re pa vellupidunt 
autem fuga. Ibus re pereptatem sum aliam rerumque 
ex essus ipiendictet harciis cillaniam ad exerro 
molupit ipiet que dolorit iaepro con non rem accab 
inctiat dent.est ipit, corit fugitio quamend isquid 
quas etur, soluptae

Apiendebit excepta simagnient eos arum quis del 
molorib usdaecere volorem re re pa vellupidunt 
autem fuga. Ibus re pereptatem sum aliam rerumque 
ex essus ipiendictet harciis cillaniam ad exerro 
molupit ipiet que dolorit iaepro con non rem accab 
inctiat dent.est ipit, corit fugitio quamend isquid 
quas etur, soluptae.

cillaniam ad exerro molupit ipiet que dolorit iaepro 
con non rem accab inctiat dent.est ipit, corit fugitio 
quamen.

The Board reviews and approves the group’s strategic plan, budget, and capital expenditure. 
furthermore, it examines and approves the abridged preliminary report and the audited 
financial statements, and considers the declaration of dividends. 

The chairperson is a non-executive director and his role is distinct from that of the chief 
executive. 

All directors have access to the advice and services of the company Secretary.

During the year under review, five Board meetings were held. The attendance at these 
meetings is given on page 47.

The following directors held office at 31 December 2009: 

Directors  Alternate Directors

cyril Mayer (resigned on 1 April 2010) non-executive, chairperson

Jacques M. d’unienville  executive

christian foo Kune  
(resigned on 31 December 2009) executive

nelson Mirthil executive

georges Leung Shing  non-executive

Ravin Bholah non-executive chandan Lauthan

Marc hein non-executive Imalambaal  
  Vythilingum-Kichenin

hugues Maigrot non-executive

Jacques de navacelle non-executive

Ritesh Sumputh non-executive geerendra gocool

Bertrand Thevenau non-executive

Anbanaden Veerasamy non-executive

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued) 
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

cyril Mayer

Non-executive director, Chairperson

Appointed to the Board, as director and chairperson, in 2001. Resigned on 1 April 2010.

cyril Mayer holds a Bachelor’s degree in commerce and is a chartered Accountant. he started 
his career in Mauritius as financial controller of Iframac Limited. In 1988, he joined harel 
frères Ltd as Management executive. he was appointed executive chairperson of harel frères 
group in 1992, and stepped down in 2003 when he was appointed as that group’s Managing 
Director.

he is the non-executive chairperson of Swan Insurance co. Ltd and of The Anglo-Mauritius 
Assurance Society Ltd, and a director of united Docks Limited.

he has served on and chaired most of the Mauritius sugar sector’s institutions, the Mauritius 
employers’ federation and the Joint economic council. he is currently a board member of the 
Mauritius Sugar Authority.

Mr Mayer resigned as both director and chairperson on 1 April 2010.

Ravin Bholah

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2005.

Ravin Bholah is a fellow of the chartered Association of certified Accountants. he started his 
career at De chazal Du Mée and was a manager in the Audit and Business Advisory Division 
of De chazal Du Mée in 2005, when he joined the Sugar Investment Trust as chief Operating 
Officer. he has a wide experience of the sugar industry, both in Mauritius and overseas. While 
he was at De chazal Du Mée, he worked on assignments in Burundi, Ivory coast, Rwanda, 
Malawi, Tanzania, Madagascar, Kosovo, yugoslavia, haiti, and the fiji Islands.

he is a non-executive director of Omnicane Milling Operations Limited, Omnicane  
Thermal energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited and Omnicane Thermal energy Operations 
(St Aubin) Limited, as well as of consolidated energy Limited and fueL Steam and Power 
generation co. Ltd.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued) 
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christian foo Kune

Executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2005. Resigned on 31 December 2009.

christian foo Kune holds a Diploma in Sugar Technology and Agriculture and a Diplôme 
supérieur en administration des entreprises. he started his career as chemist at Rose Belle 
Sugar estate in 1974 and joined Mon Trésor Sugar estate in 1984. he occupied various senior 
positions during his 35-year involvement in the Mauritius sugar industry, and was the Deputy 
chief executive Officer of Omnicane Limited until he retired from the company and resigned 
as a director on 31 December 2009. he has been a board member of several sugar-sector 
institutions in Mauritius, and was President of the Mauritius chamber of Agriculture in 2005 
and 2006.

Marc hein

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2006.

Marc hein is a barrister. he holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law and a Licence en droit. he started 
practising law in Mauritius in 1980 at the chambers of Sir Raymond hein Q.c. In 1989, he set  
up his own chambers, Juristconsult chambers. he is the legal adviser of several well-known 
local and multinational corporations, trusts, banks, financial institutions and fund managers. 
he is a director of several Mauritian companies, global business companies and offshore 
investment funds.

georges Leung Shing

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 1981.

georges Leung Shing holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics and is a chartered Tax Adviser 
and a fellow chartered Accountant. he started his career in Mauritius in 1973 as Accountant 
of the Mauritius chamber of Agriculture, and was appointed Senior economist the next year. 
In 1981, he joined Lonrho Sugar corporation Ltd as finance Manager and was appointed 
executive chairperson of Lonrho (Mauritius) Ltd before its take-over by Illovo Sugar Ltd in July 
1997. he retired as Managing Director of MTMD on 31 March 2007 and served as consultant to 
the MTMD group for the year ended 31 March 2008.

he has served on most sugar-sector institutions in Mauritius, the Mauritius employers’ 
federation and the Joint economic council. he is the chairman of the financial Reporting 
Monitoring Panel and a board member of the Mauritius Institute of Directors. he is also the 
chairperson of The Mauritius Development Investment Trust company Ltd (MDIT), the first 
approved investment trust in Mauritius, and a director of Mauritius chemical & fertilizer 
Industry Ltd and of Mauritius Stationery Manufacturers Ltd.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILES (Continued)

hugues Maigrot

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2002.

hugues Maigrot was appointed notary Public in 1971. he is legal adviser to a number of listed 
and large private companies. he is the non-executive chairperson of harel frères Ltd.

Jacques M. d’unienville

Executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2001.

Jacques M. d’unienville holds a Bachelor’s degree in commerce. Before joining Société 
usinière du Sud (SuDS) as chief executive Officer in 2005, he was the Managing Director of 
Société de Traitement et d’Assainissement des Mascareignes. he has held office as chief 
executive Officer of MTMD (now Omnicane Limited) as from 1 April 2007. he is also the 
chairperson of Omnicane Thermal energy (La Baraque) Limited and of Omnicane Thermal 
energy (St Aubin) Limited.

he is a board member of several sugar-sector institutions in Mauritius and was the  
President of the Mauritius Sugar Producers’ Association in 2005, 2006 and 2009. he is a 
director of The Mauritius Development Investment Trust company Ltd and of compagnie  
de Beau Vallon Ltée.

Jacques de navacelle

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2006.

Jacques de navacelle holds a Maîtrise de philosophie and is a graduate of the Institut de 
commerce International. After 27 years with the Barclays group in france, South Africa 
and Mauritius, he joined Mauritius union Assurance co. Ltd in May 2005 as chief executive 
Officer. he is the chairperson of Transparency Mauritius, the non-executive chairperson of 
compagnie de Beau Vallon Ltée, and a director of harel frères Ltd.

Ritesh Sumputh

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2005.

Ritesh Sumputh holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law and a Postgraduate Diploma in Bar 
Vocational course. he was called to the Bar of england and Wales in 2001 and to the Mauritian 
Bar in 2002. he practices as a barrister in fields of criminal Law, Labour Law, Industrial 
Relations, Disciplinary committees, company Law, Land Law, and family Law. he is the non-
executive chairperson of the Sugar Investment Trust.
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Bertrand Thevenau

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2008.

Bertrand Thevenau holds a Diplôme universitaire de technologie, option Marketing international. 
he has a wide experience of the Mauritian industrial sector. he is currently the executive 
Director of Tropic Knits Ltd (ciel Textile).

nelson Mirthil

Executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2008.

nelson Mirthil is a fellow of the chartered Association of certified Accountants. he started 
his career in the Audit Department of De chazal Du Mée. he worked in the Audit Department 
of ernst & young from 1995, where he was promoted to the position of Audit Manager. he is 
the Manager of MDIT since 2003 and is at present the chief finance Officer of the Omnicane 
group. 

Anbanaden Veerasamy

Non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in 2009.

Anbanaden Veerasamy holds a Diploma in Public Administration and Management. Over 
the past 30 years, he has occupied various senior positions in the Public Service, notably 
in the Ministry of Social Security, national Solidarity, Senior citizens’ Welfare and Reform 
Institutions, the Ministry of Agro-Industry and fisheries, the Ministry of Local government 
and Rodrigues, and the Ministry of youth and Sports. he is, since 2009, the Permanent 
Secretary at the Ministry of Social Security, national Solidarity, Senior citizens’ Welfare and 
Reform Institutions. 
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is assisted in fulfilling its responsibilities by four committees, namely the Audit 
committee, the corporate governance committee,  the Investment committee, and the 
Morcellement committee, which operate under clearly defined terms of reference and 
regularly report and recommend specific matters to the Board for approval. 

The company Secretary acts as secretary to all the committees.

Audit committee

Members:

  georges Leung Shing, chairperson 

  Ravin Bholah

  Marc hein

The Audit committee is governed by a charter and its primary objective is to assist the Board 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. The committee thus reviews the financial-reporting 
process, the system of internal control and management of financial risks, the audit process, 
and the process for monitoring the group’s compliance with the laws and regulations 
obtaining in Mauritius as well as its own code of business conduct. In performing its duties, 
the committee maintains effective working relationships with the Board of Directors, with 
Management, and with the group’s internal and external auditors.

The committee consists of three non-executive directors, and its meetings are attended by 
the chief executive Officer, the chief finance Officer, the internal and external auditors, and 
any other managers as deemed necessary.

The group’s Internal Audit Department is headed by a fully qualified accountant, who carries 
out a continual audit of the group’s operations. At each meeting of the Audit committee, the 
internal auditor tables a report on the group’s internal-control and risk-management systems, 
highlighting any deficiencies and recommending corrective measures.

corporate governance committee

Members:

  hugues Maigrot, chairperson

  hector espitalier-noël (resigned on 20 May 2009)

  Jacques M. d’unienville (in attendance)

The corporate governance committee encompasses the nomination committee, as well as 
the Remuneration committee. It ensures compliance with the code of corporate governance 
for Mauritius and considers the company’s annual report before its circulation to the Board 
for approval.

The committee is responsible for the nomination of key personnel and makes 
recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration of senior and middle 
Management. It may call on external expert advice for determining the remuneration of  
key personnel.
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Investment committee

Members:

  cyril Mayer, chairperson (resigned on 1 April 2010)

  Ravin Bholah

  georges Leung Shing

  Jacques M. d’unienville 

The Investment committee was set up primarily to ensure that the company’s investments 
are in line with the Board’s strategy. It monitors and reviews progress on the group’s 
investment objectives and the strategic plan laid out to achieve them.

Morcellement committee

Members:

  georges Leung Shing, chairperson

  Ravin Bholah

  christian foo Kune (resigned on 31 December 2009)

  Jacques M. d’unienville

The Morcellement committee oversees procedures relating to all the company’s land-
development projects to ensure that they are conducted in a transparent manner and in 
the best interests of the company. It focuses on identifying, assessing and selecting the 
best contractors, through tenders, and on monitoring progress in the works involved, 
to ensure their timely execution. It also deals with all land-related matters, and makes 
recommendations to the Board accordingly.

Attendance at Board Meetings

The directors’ attendance at Board meetings held in 2009 is shown below.

Directors No. of Meetings Attended

Ravin Bholah 2 out of 5

hector espitalier-noël (resigned on 20 May 2009) 0 out of 1

christian foo Kune (resigned on 31 December 2009) 5 out of 5

Marc hein 3 out of 5

georges Leung Shing 5 out of 5

hugues Maigrot 4 out of 5

Jacques M. d’unienville 5 out of 5

cyril Mayer (resigned on 1 April 2010) 4 out of 5

nelson Mirthil 5 out of 5

Jacques de navacelle 5 out of 5

Ritesh Sumputh 1 out of 5

Bertrand Thevenau 4 out of 5

Anbanaden Veerasamy 3 out of 4
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Directors’ Interests (direct and indirect as at 31 December 2009)

Direct Indirect

Ravin Bholah nil nil

christian foo Kune 1,044 nil

Marc hein 19,651 14,100

georges Leung Shing nil nil

hugues Maigrot nil nil

Jacques M. d’unienville nil nil

cyril Mayer nil 47,765

nelson Mirthil nil nil

Jacques de navacelle nil 21

Ritesh Sumputh nil nil

Bertrand Thevenau nil nil

Anbanaden Veerasamy nil nil

chandan Lauthan (Alternate Director) nil nil

geerendra gocool (Alternate Director) nil nil

Share Dealings by Directors

The directors ensure that their dealings in the company’s shares are conducted in accordance 
with the principles of the Model code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
companies, as detailed in Appendix 6 of the Stock exchange of Mauritius Listing Rules.

upon appointment to the Board, the directors are required to inform the company Secretary 
of the number of shares held directly and indirectly by them in the company. This declaration 
is entered into a Directors’ Interests Register, which is maintained by the company Secretary 
and updated with any subsequent transactions made by the directors.

Directors’ Remuneration and Benefits (See table)

Director Amount (Rs ’000)

cyril Mayer 339

Jacques M. d’unienville 144

georges Leung Shing 373.5

Premsagar Bholah 271.5

Anbanaden Veerasamy 144

christian foo Kune 3,867.9

Jacques de navacelle 144

Marc hein 195

nelson Mirthil 144

hugues Maigrot 224.4

Ritesh Sumputh 144

Bertrand Thevenau 144
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Interest of Directors in contracts

 Significant contracts

The company has a management contract with Omnicane Management & consultancy Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the controlling shareholder, Omnicane holdings Limited.

Particulars of Directorate in Subsidiaries (See table)
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eddie Ah-cham • • • • •   • •    
Moorges Andee   •                
francois Vitry Audibert   •                
Assenjee gurib         •          
Lindsay fayolle         •          
christian foo Kune • • • • •          
Joseph de guardia de Ponte   •                
Jack Kong Win chang   •     • •     • •
Jacques M. d’unienville • • • • • • • • • •
Roger Mee goupille         •          
nelson Mirthil • • • • • • • •    
Iramon Mohunlall         •          
Ahsveenee K. Ramnarain   •                
gerard chasteau de Balyon           • • • • •
guy Maurel           •     • •
Pascal Langeron                 • •
Louis Decrop                 • •
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SenIOR MAnAgeMenT PROfILe

d’UNIENVILLE, Jacques M.
chIef execuTIVe OffIceR
Omnicane Group

Jacques M. d’unienville holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in commerce and has 
15 years of work experience in france, the 
Seychelles and Mauritius. his expertise 
lies in the strategic development of 
new projects in the following sectors: 
sugar production and refining, 
independent power production, waste 
and environment management, and 
renewable energy projects. he currently 
serves as the President of the Mauritius 
Sugar Producers’ Association.

AH-CHAM, Eddie
cOMPAny SecReTARy
Omnicane Group

eddie Ah-cham is a fellow of the 
chartered Association of certified 
Accountants (fccA). he has 13 years’ 
experience, in external and internal 
auditing and in corporate management. 

AUDIBERT, François
fIeLD MAnAgeR
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations

françois Vitry Audibert has 33 years’ 
experience in managing the sugar 
estates of Britannia, Riche Bois and Mon 
Trésor.

AUFFRAY, Sabine
huMAn ReSOuRceS cOORDInATOR
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque

Sabine Auffray is a member of the 
Institute of chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators (uK) (gradIcSA). She has 
12 years’ experience in the sugar industry 
in the fields of accounting and human-
resource management.

AUMEERUDDY, Aboo
chIef STRATegy OffIceR
Omnicane Group

Aboo Aumeeruddy holds the following 
qualifications in economics from the 
university of grenoble in france: 
Licence, Maîtrise, and Diplôme d’études 
approfondies (DeA). he has 33 years of 
international experience in research 
and teaching; international consultancy; 
public-sector strategic management; 
central banking; and corporate and 
strategic management in various 
industries, including tourism, maritime 
services, and insurance.

AUTREY, Jean Claude
ScIence AnD TechnOLOgy 
cOORDInATOR 
Omnicane Group

Jean claude Autrey, c.S.K., fellow of 
the Society of Biology (London) and 
chartered Biologist, holds a BSc degree 
in Botany, an MSc degree in Plant 
Pathology, a PhD in Plant Virology, 
and a DSc in Biological Sciences. A 
former Director of the Mauritius Sugar 
Industry Research Institute, he has more 
than 40 years’ experience in the sugar 
industry. he serves on several local 
and international bodies in the sugar 
industry and in research. Jean claude 
Autrey is currently the general Secretary 
of the International Society of Sugar 
cane Technologists.

BOREL, Emmanuel
POWeR PLAnT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations 
(La Baraque) Limited 

emmanuel Borel holds a Diplôme 
d’ingénieur from the École nationale 
Supérieure d’Ingénieurs, of Poitiers, 
france. he has 13 years’ international 
experience in energy operations and 
power-plant management.

CABOCHE, Jean Luc
SITe MAnAgeR 
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – St 
Aubin

Jean Luc caboche holds an Advanced 
Diploma in Business Administration – 
ABe (uK) and has 17 years’ supervisory 
and management experience in 
maintenance.

From left: 

Ah-chAM, eddie
AuDIBeRT, françois
AuffRAy, Sabine
AuMeeRuDDy, Aboo

From left: 

AuTRey, Jean claude
BOReL, emmanuel
cABOche, Jean Luc
cALLeechuRn, Prithviraj
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CALLEECHURN, Prithviraj
ASSISTAnT PLAnT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque 

Prithviraj calleechurn holds a Beng 
(hons) degree in Mechanical engineering 
from the university of Mauritius and has 
10 years’ experience in thermal-power 
operations.

CHASTEAU DE BALYON, Gérard
cOnSuLTAnT
Omnicane Group

gérard chasteau de Balyon is a 
professional engineer and an MBA, 
with a degree in sugar engineering 
and agriculture from Louisiana State 
university and a diploma from the 
Mauritius college of Agriculture. he is a 
member of the Institute of Mechanical 
engineers and has 40 years’ experience 
in industrial engineering.

DALAIS, Jocelyn
eSTATe AccOunTAnT
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations

Jocelyn Dalais has completed AccA 
(Association of chartered certified 
Accountants) Level 1 and he also 
holds an Advanced certificate in 
Business Management. he has 28 
years’ experience in the finance and 
accounting sectors.

DE GUARDIA DE PONTE, Joseph 
gARAge AnD TRAnSPORT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations, Britannia

Joseph de guardia holds a Baccalauréat 
in Mechanical engineering. he has 
33 years’ experience in mechanics, 
automotive engineering and the 
management of transport fleets in the 
sugar industry.

FAYOLLE, Lindsay
OPeRATIOnS MAnAgeR
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque

Lindsay fayolle holds a Diploma in 
Agriculture and Sugar Technology and 
has 32 years’ experience in operations 
and process management in the sugar 
industry. he is responsible for operations 
at Omnicane Milling Operations 
Limited’s two sugar mills, at La Baraque 
and at St Aubin, as well as at the 
company’s refinery.

FOO KUNE, Christian
DePuTy chIef execuTIVe OffIceR
Omnicane Group

christian foo Kune retired from the 
company on 31 December 2009. he 
holds a Diploma in Sugar Technology 
and Agriculture and a Diplôme supérieur 
en administration des entreprises. he 
has 35 years’ experience at senior 
Management level in the sugar industry 
and he is a board member of several 
sugar-sector institutions in Mauritius.

GOUPILLE, Roger Mée
gARAge AnD TRAnSPORT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations, Mon Trésor

Roger Mée goupille holds a Diploma 
in Internal combustion engines. he 
has 36 years’ experience in mechanical 
engineering and automotive 
management at sugar estates.

GRENADE, Sylvain
OPeRATIOnS AccOunTAnT
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque 

Sylvain grenade has a Diploma in 
computer Programming and is a 
certified Accounting Technician (cAT). 
he has 24 years’ experience in operations 
accounting and general management in 
the sugar industry.

JULIEN, Jean Pierre
MAInTenAnce MAnAgeR
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque

Jean Pierre Julien holds a Beng (hons) 
degree in Mechanical engineering and 
computing (Australia) and a certificate 
in Management. he has 11 years’ 
experience in industrial engineering and 
site management in the sugar industry.

From left: 
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SenIOR MAnAgeMenT PROfILe

KONG WIN CHANG, Jack
chIef OPeRATIOnS OffIceR
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque

Jack Kong Win chang holds a Diploma 
in Management and a BSc (hons) degree 
in electrical engineering (uK). he has 34 
years’ work experience in Mauritius and 
abroad, in engineering and operations 
management at senior Management 
level. Prior to joining the sugar industry, 
Jack chang worked in the tea and textile 
industries. 

LUTCHMANEN, Rudley
fInAncIAL AccOunTAnT
Omnicane Group

Rudley Lutchmanen is a fellow of the 
chartered Association of certified 
Accountants and holds an MSc degree 
in finance. he has 10 years of experience 
in auditing, financial accounting and 
business modelling.

MAMET, Patrick
RegIOnAL MAnAgeR
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations, Britannia

Patrick Mamet has 28 years’ experience 
in site management in the sugar 
industry.

MAUREL, Guy
TechnIcAL MAnAgeR (PROJecTS
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque

guy Maurel holds a Diploma in Business 
Management, a Diplôme supérieur en 
administration des entreprises (DSAe) and 
a BSc (hons) degree in Sugar Technology. 
he has 36 years’ experience at technical-
management level in the sugar industry 
and in the energy sector.

MIRTHIL, Nelson
chIef fInAnce OffIceR
Omnicane Group

nelson Mirthil is a fellow of the 
chartered Association of certified 
Accountants. he has 20 years’ experience 
in auditing, fund management, 
corporate finance, project management 
and financial accounting.

MOHUN, Navinduth
InTeRnAL AuDITOR
Omnicane Group

navinduth Mohun is a member of the 
Association of chartered certified 
Accountants (AccA) and holds a BSc 
degree in Accounting and finance. he 
has 5 years’ experience in internal and 
external auditing.

MOTET, Jean Marc
RegIOnAL MAnAgeR
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations, Mon Trésor 

Jean Marc Motet has 33 years’ experience 
in site and operations management.

MUSAI, Ravin
ASSISTAnT PLAnT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St 
Aubin) Limited 

Ravin Musai has a Beng (hons.) degree 
in Mechanical engineering from the 
university of Mauritius and he has 5 
years’ experience in thermal-power 
operations.

From left: 
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NG MAN CHUEN, Jean Luc
PROJecT & fInAnce AccOunTAnT
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque 

Jean Luc ng holds a BSc (Jt. hons) degree 
in computer Science and Accounting, 
AcA – Member of IcAeW (uK) and has 
15 years’ experience in auditing, and in 
financial control and management.

PLANCHE, Gaëtan
chIef PuRchASIng OffIceR
Omnicane Group

gaëtan Planche is an affiliate member 
of the chartered Institute of Purchasing 
& Supply. he has 37 years’ experience in 
the purchasing sector.

RAMLUGON, Rajivsingh
SAfeTy & enVIROnMenTAL MAnAgeR
Omnicane Milling Operations Limited – 
La Baraque 

Rajiv Ramlugon holds a BTech (hons) 
degree in civil engineering and an MSc 
degree in environmental engineering 
(from newcastle university, uK.). he 
has 12 years’ experience in waste 
management, industrial-effluent 
treatment, biogas valorisation, and 
the implementation of quality- and 
environmental-management systems as 
well as of other management systems in 
industry.

ROBERT, Frédéric
PLAnT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St 
Aubin) Limited 

frédéric Robert is an experienced power-
plant specialist, with 11 years’ experience 
in the management of thermal-power 
plants.

SAGNIER, Pierre
PROJecT DeVeLOPMenT MAnAgeR
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations 
(La Baraque) Limited

Pierre Sagnier holds a Diplôme 
d’ingénieur from the École des hautes 
Études d’Ingénierie, france. he has 
35 years’ international experience 
(in the uSA, europe and Africa) in 
environmental and energy management.

SEEBARUTH, Oudesh
gROuP AccOunTAnT & heAD Of 
TReASuRy
Omnicane Group

Oudesh Seebaruth has 25 years’ 
experience in auditing, accounting, 
treasury, risk management, and business 
modelling. 

SEELARBOKUS, Hahmid
huMAn ReSOuRceS MAnAgeR
Omnicane Limited – Agricultural 
Operations 

hahmid Seelarbokus holds a Bachelor’s 
degree in Administration and a Master’s 
degree in Business Administration. he 
has 21 years’ experience in administrative 
and human-resource management.

SOOBANY, Imran
fInAnce MAnAgeR
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La 
Baraque) Limited and Omnicane Thermal 
Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited.

he has completed his AccA (Association 
of chartered certified Accountants) 
Level 2 and has 20 years’ experience in 
management and accounting.

THEVENAU, Daniel
SITe MAnAgeR
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations 
(La Baraque) Limited 

Daniel Thevenau holds an Advanced 
certificate in Business Management 
(AcBM) and an Mef-MIM certificate in 
Sugar Manufacture. he has 30 years’ 
experience as a site manager in the 
sugar industry.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) 

creation of Omnicane foundation

corporate Social Responsibility (cSR) is an integral part of the day-to-day life at Omnicane 
Limited. cSR relates to the company’s societal responsibility to establish real partnerships 
for sustainable human and community development around its industrial sites and in the 
country at large.

To ensure better coordination and sustainability for the group’s cSR initiatives in favour 
of the community, the company created an exclusively cSR-dedicated entity – Omnicane 
foundation – in 2009. Omnicane foundation supports various initiatives and projects aimed 
at real eco-sustainable development, including education and poverty alleviation.

That is in line with government’s decision that 2% of companies’ book profits be dedicated 
to the country’s social and environmental development, through projects that meet national 
cSR criteria.

Our group’s cSR realisations in 2009 comprised the following:

• Sponsoring Olympic Texas Football Club, of L’Escalier 

• Sponsoring the Club Sportif de L’Escalier’s volleyball team, who play in the First Division of 
the sport’s national league 

• Donating a 15-seat utility van to the Mauritius Heart Foundation 

• Financial support for the setting-up of a pre-primary school at Batimarais village by 
groupe Éveil. This included a donation of five solar water-heaters and funding for the 
completion of construction works 

• Financial support to the Village Council and Social Centre of L’Escalier for the organisation 
of a clean-up campaign on 6 December 2009

• Donating school equipment to 50 needy students of L’Escalier, with the support of Trust 
fund, on 12 December 2009 

• Sponsoring the African Badminton Tournament 

• Funding a prize-giving ceremony for CPE pupils at L’Escalier 

• The Mon Trésor Award: the Company’s annual Mon Trésor Award has become a 
classic for local schools’ teams of Sixth form students, to whom it offers a competitive 
opportunity to undertake research on a topical subject and to develop their analytical 
and presentation skills 

• Presiding, from September 2009, the coordination working group (CWG) set up for 
L’escalier by the eradication of Absolute Poverty (eAP) programme of the Ministry of 
finance. Two main projects have been identified and will be launched in 2010 – notably:

• A centre d’accueil, to be run by specialised ngOs, for drug addicts and alcoholics from 
L’escalier and its vicinity

• Educational support, including school materials, lunch, and follow-up by a psychologist 
and a nutritionist, for children from vulnerable groups

Omnicane Award

The prize-giving ceremony of the 2008 Mon Trésor Award, renamed Omnicane Award, was 
held on 20 May 2009. The function was graced by he the Rt hon. Sir Anerood Jugnauth, 
gcSK,  KcMg, Qc, President  of the Republic of Mauritius, who presented the challenge 
trophy to the winning team, who represented Queen elizabeth college. The theme of the 
competition was “A multifaceted, flexible and changing Mauritius Sugar cane Industry 
contributing to today’s and tomorrow’s economy”. The five members of the winning team 
shared a cash prize of Rs 100,000. The theme of the 2009 edition of the Omnicane Award, 
which will be judged in 2010, is “Maurice Ile Durable – What are the major challenges facing 
this vision and what strategies are needed to ensure its successful implementation?”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT 

Omnicane’s approach to risk management is to make it an integral part of the conduct of 
every aspect of its business. Proactive management ensures that decisions are taken to 
achieve the most appropriate balance between risks and returns at all times, to transfer risks 
wherever possible, and to take the necessary measures to mitigate key risks. We apply this 
approach:

• To both ongoing activities and new projects
• At both the operating and the strategic levels
• With regard to both technical performance and compliance with legislation, regulations, 

policies and contractual obligations
financial-risk management is analysed in note 40 to the financial Statements, on pages 103 to 

107, and includes a discussion of the following types of risk:

• Capital risk
• Market risk
• Foreign-currency risk
• Interest-rate risk
• Price risk
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk

The Audit committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the oversight 
of the company’s risk-management strategies, and is also responsible for ensuring that a 
strong internal control system is in place. 

furthermore, each operating unit and subsidiary is responsible in its own right for regularly 
assessing opportunities and risks in accordance with best practice. 

The following sections describe the group’s approach with regard to its electricity-generation 
and sugar-production operations.

Risks Linked to the Production of electricity

The group controls two major power companies, namely Omnicane Thermal energy 
Operations (La Baraque) Limited and Omnicane Thermal energy Operations (St Aubin) 
Limited. These two companies together produce about 30% of the total electric energy 
consumed in Mauritius, and as such are exposed to public scrutiny and to monitoring by 
the relevant authorities. Both companies’ power plants operate within the strict confines of 
power-purchase agreements (PPAs) signed with the central electricity Board.

The power plants have been constructed to comply with strict regulations and stringent pre-
defined criteria with respect to environmental issues such as:

  Quality of gaseous emissions
  Quality of effluents
  noise limitation

These are monitored on a continuous basis.

The plants have also been designed to be able to meet precisely defined kWh despatch 
mechanisms and levels. 

The PPAs signed include protection mechanisms against price fluctuations due to variations 
in the cost of coal or other elements of production cost. It is, however, difficult to guarantee 
that such mechanisms would totally mitigate all incidences due to major fluctuations of such 
costs. 

The technical management of the group’s power plants is provided, through a management-
assistance contract, by the group’s strategic partner Séchilienne-Sidec, who have recruited 
international specialist staff for the operation, control and management of the plants.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued) 
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Risks Linked to climatic conditions

The group’s power plants have contracted comprehensive insurance policies to cater for all 
material damages and cumulative losses with regard to natural catastrophes such as tropical 
cyclones and floods.

Insurance cover

The group’s power plants are at present covered by insurance policies with regard to the 
following:

 • Damages and loss of profits

 • Civil and professional liability

 • Terrorism risk

 • Damages to third parties, consequential on damage to the environment

 • Automobile and personal accidents

furthermore, the policies are reviewed every year and this exercise, considering the present 
volatility of the insurance market, could result in a substantial increase in premium costs. Any 
increase in premium costs could adversely affect the profitability of the business should the 
‘fixed’ portion of the contract not allow us the opportunity to cater for such a cost increase.

Miscellaneous Risks

Besides the risks detailed above, the group’s power plants are exposed to the following 
miscellaneous risks:

 • Risks in respect of damage to the public environment, subsequent to fire, explosion, 
pollution

 • Risks arising from failure, by the plants’ original equipment manufacturers, to meet their 
guarantees

 • Risks linked to the procurement of combustibles such as coal and bagasse

 • Risks arising from labour disputes

 
Risks Associated with Sugar Production

The risks associated with sugar production are well known and can be summed up as related 
to abiotic factors (drought, cyclones and floods) and biotic factors (pests and diseases). The 
risks associated with abiotic factors are covered by insurance. good production-management 
systems mitigate risks associated with biotic factors, and since 1980, there has been no 
epidemic affecting cane cultivation in Mauritius. nevertheless, it is a fact that, as with all crop 
production, there is an inherent agricultural risk.

Risks Associated with Sugar factory Operations

The operation of the group’s sugar factory at La Baraque is compliant with all applicable 
environmental and safety legislations and is also in line with sugar-production best practice.

The factories of Omnicane Milling Operations Limited at La Baraque and union St Aubin 
are certified to gMP B2 standard. gMP, which stands for good Manufacturing Practices, 
consists of internal agreements between members of a specific industry regarding sanitary 
practices and bio-security. The gMP B2 standard relates to the feed-compound industry, 
and matches both ISO 9001:2000 and hAccP (hazard Analysis & critical control Points) rules. 
This certification guarantees that the molasses produced and exported by Omnicane Milling 
Operations Limited are compliant with applicable international hygiene norms.
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further Development of Risk Management Strategies

The group’s acquisition of a majority stake in its milling and energy operations has made it 
possible for Omnicane to implement a harmonised approach to risk management across all 
subsidiaries of the company. 

In 2009, the group’s Quality Management System project based on ISO 9001:2008 was 
launched with a series of working sessions with senior managers and members of the Quality 
Management Steering committee. Representatives from each of Omnicane’s five major 
entities attended the training sessions and took part in the formulation of the company’s 
quality policy and the elaboration of a quality manual and of quality procedures. The process 
is continuing.

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

The holding structure of the company as at 30 April 2010 was as follows:

 

70.25% 19.62%10.13%

Omnicane 
Limited

national 
Pensions 

fund

Omnicane 
holdings 

Ltd
Others
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The following shareholders held more than 5% of the issued share capital as at 30 April 2010:

No. of Shares Held % Holding

Omnicane holdings Limited 47,074,792 70.248

national Pensions fund 6,784,944 10.125

Shareholding Profile as at 30 April 2010

Defined Brackets Shareholder Count Ordinary Shares Percent

1-500 749 136,110 0.203

501-1,000 248 197,031 0.294

1,001-5,000 557 1,330,572 1.986

5,001-10,000 170 1,208,190 1.803

10,001-50,000 211 4,261,702 6.360

50,001-100,000 28 1,988,282 2.967

100,001-250,000 16 2,335,613 3.485

250,001-500,000 2 643,640 0.960

More than 500,000 4 54,911,264 81.942

Total 1,958 67,012,404 100

Summary by Shareholder category

Count Shares Percent

Individuals 1,786 8,097,701 12.084

Insurance and assurance companies 13 1,050,307 1.567

Pension and provident funds 16 7,415,708 11.066

Investment and trust companies 18 1,085,704 1.620

Other corporate bodies 152 49,362,984 73.662

Total 1,958 67,012,404 100
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Shareholder communication and events

The company communicates to its shareholders through its Annual Report, the publication 
of its unaudited quarterly results, its dividend declarations and its Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders.

  
Shareholders’ Diary

financial year-end December

Annual Meeting June
 

Reports and Profit Statements

Quarterly reports and abridged end-of-year 
statements

March, May, August and november

Annual Report and financial Statements June

Dividend

   Final 

 - Declared 21 December 2009

 - Paid 25 March 2010

Dividend Policy

The company does not have a predetermined dividend policy. Payment of dividends is 
subject to the company’s profitability, cash flow, working capital and capital expenditure 
requirements.

for the year under review, the company has declared a final dividend of Rs 2.00 (2008: Rs 2.00) 
per share.

Share Price Information

The company’s share-price information is set out on page 26.

Eddie Ah-Cham, F.C.C.A.
for Omnicane Management & consultancy Limited

Secretaries
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Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which 
present fairly the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity, and cash flows of the

Company. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

•	 Select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently

•	 Make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent

•	 State	whether	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	have	been	followed,	subject	to	any	
material departures disclosed and explained in the notes to financial statements

•	 Prepare	the	financial	statements	on	a	going-concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	
that	the	Company	will	continue	in	business

The	directors	confirm	that	they	have	complied	with	the	above	requirements	in	preparing	the	
financial statements.

The	directors	are	responsible	for	keeping	proper	accounting	records	which	disclose	with	
reasonable	accuracy	at	any	time	the	financial	position	of	the	Company	and	enable	them	to	ensure	
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2001.

The	directors	are	also	responsible	for	safeguarding	the	assets	of	the	Company	and	hence	for	the	
implementation and operation of accounting and internal control systems that are designed to 
prevent	and	detect	fraud	and	errors	and	of	an	effective	risk	management	system.	This	is	achieved	
through	the	Internal	Audit	Department,	headed	by	the	Internal	Audit	Manager	and	assisted	by	an	
Internal	Audit	Officer,	both	of	whom	are	fully	qualified	auditors.

The	internal	auditors	work	according	to	an	Internal	Audit	Plan	which	aims	at	covering	over	a	
period	of	time	all	operations	of	the	Company	and	its	subsidiaries	by	effecting	regular	visits	on	
site,	verifying	that	management	controls	and	procedures	are	in	place	and	followed	and	providing	
corrective	measures	where	weaknesses	are	detected.

The	Internal	Auditors	write	a	report	on	their	investigations,	findings	and	recommendations	after	
each	site	visit.	At	each	meeting	of	the	Audit	Committee,	which	usually	precedes	a	Board	meeting,	
the	internal	auditors	table	their	report,	which	is	considered	and	approved	by	the	Audit	Committee.	
At	the	following	Board	meeting,	the	chairperson	of	the	Audit	Committee	apprises	the	Board	of	the	
workings	of	the	Internal	Audit	Department.

The	Group’s	external	auditors,	BDO	&	Co.,	have	full	and	free	access	to	the	Board	of	Directors	and	its	
committees	and	discuss	the	audit	and	matters	arising	therefrom,	such	as	their	observations	on	the	
fairness of financial reporting and the adequacy of internal controls.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES
in Matters of Financial Statement

Jacques M. d’Unienville
Chief Executive Officer

Hugues Maigrot 
Director

in Matters of Financial Statement
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES
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This is to certify that, in accordance with Section 166(d) of the Companies Act 2001, all such returns as required by the Company under the 
Companies Act 2001 have been filed with the Registrar of Companies.

eddie Ah-cham, f.c.c.A.
for BBHM (Management & Consultancy) Ltd 
Secretaries

26 March 2009

nature of Business

The company’s main business is sugar growing.

The main activities of the group consist principally ofsugar cane growing and milling, and 
electricity production.

Auditors’ Report and Accounts

The auditors’ report is set out on page 64 and the statement of comprehensive income are set 
out on page 65.

Interest Register Disclosures

There was no service contract between the company and its subsidiaries and any of its 
Directors during the year.

Donations & Auditors’ fees
 GROUP COMPANY

 2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Donations made during the year

- charitable 120  96  6  6 

Audit fees paid to:
BDO & co  1,200  -  400 - 
Kemp chatteris Deloite -  1,260  -  935 
ernst & young -  415 - 

fees paid for other services provided by
BDO & co  150  -  50 - 
Kemp chatteris Deloite -  - -  61
ernst & young  35 25  -  - 

This to certify that, accordance with section 166(d) of the companies Act 2001, all such returns 
as required by the company under the companies Act 2001 have been filed with the Registrar 
of companies.

eddie Ah-cham, f.c.c.A.
for Omnicane Management & consultancy Limited

Secretaries

CERTIFICATE OF COMPANY SECRETARY

year ended December 31, 2009
OTHER STATUTORY DISClOSURESOTHER STATUTORY DISClOSURES
year ended December 31, 2009
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35%
That’s about how much of the country’s electricity consumption 
comes from bagasse during a cane-harvest season.
 
Bagasse. A clean, reliable, renewable source of energy.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

This report is made solely to the members of Omnicane Limited (the “company”), as a body, in accordance 
with Section 205 of the companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the group financial statements of Omnicane Limited and its subsidiaries (the “group”) and  
the company’s separate financial statements on pages 65 to 107 which comprise the statement of financial 
position at December 31, 2009, the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of 
the companies Act 2001. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 65 to 107 give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the group and of the company at December 31, 2009, their financial performance and their cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International financial Reporting Standards and comply with the 
companies  
Act 2001. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Companies Act 2001

We have no relationship with, or interests in, the company or any of its subsidiaries, other than in our capacity 
as auditors, tax and business advisers and dealings in the ordinary course of business. 

We have obtained all information and explanations we have required. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the company as far as it appears from our 
examination of those records.

BDO & Co Per Shabnam Peerbocus F.C.A.
(formerly BDO De chazal Du Mée & co)
Chartered Accountants
Port Louis,
Mauritius.
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  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Turnover 5 3,192,067   460,515   318,926   337,301 
Loss in standing cane movement   (3,429)  (17,128)  (7,202)  (11,291)
Other operating income 6 1,370   6,868   1,370   6,868 

    3,190,008 450,255 313,094 332,878 
Operating expenses   (2,492,735)  (411,525)  (301,081)  (296,129)

Operating profit 7 697,273 38,730 12,013 36,749 
Amortisation of VRS and centralisation costs   (5,368)  (10,774)  (4,449)  (10,774)
Investment and other income 8 80,689 102,587 214,039   137,621 
Finance costs 9 (711,980)  (78,961)  (216,110)  (81,324)
Share of results of associates   (788)  23,578  -  - 

Profit before exceptional items   59,826 75,160 5,493 82,272 
Exceptional items 10 285,796   240,052   285,796   21,623 

Profit before taxation   345,622   315,212  291,289   103,895 
Taxation 11 (22,557)  7,833 2,117 (1,291)

Profit for the year   323,065 323,045 293,406 102,604 

Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale financial assets   17,894 (93,848)  11,127 (99,829)
Fair value movement on disposal of financial assets   (207,078) -  (207,078)  - 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   (189,184)  (93,848)  (195,951)  (99,829)

Total comprehensive income for the year   133,881 229,197 97,455 2,775 

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the company   258,399 283,889 293,406 102,604 
Minority interest   64,666 39,156  -  - 

    323,065 323,045 293,406 102,604 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the company   69,215 190,041 97,455 2,775 
Minority interest   64,666 39,156  -  - 

    133,881 229,197 97,455 2,775 

Earnings per share (Rs) 12 3.86   4.24   4.38   1.53 

The notes on pages 70 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on page 64.

for the year ended December 31, 2009
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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at December 31, 2009
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

ASSETS EMPLOYED

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 10,886,997 10,360,764 3,903,590 3,865,919 
Investment properties 14 9,643 9,643 9,643 9,643 
Intangible assets 15 1,147,446 1,099,482 220,486 219,500 
Investment in subsidiary companies 16  -  - 1,364,831 1,364,831 
Investment in associates 17 30,677 20,890 10,688 100 
Investments in financial assets 18 60,944 298,267 43,155 287,052 
Bearer biological assets 19 178,038 178,111 137,601 139,934 
Deferred expenditure 20 26,751 27,723 22,160 22,215 
Deferred tax assets  21 94,902 111,514  -  - 

    12,435,398 12,106,394 5,712,154 5,909,194 

Current assets
Inventories 22 279,699 369,394 12,109 15,794 
Consumable biological assets  23 116,551 119,980 92,745 99,947 
Trade and other receivables 24 1,443,395 1,543,680 602,355 385,389 
Receivable from related parties 25 64,813 27,975 1,274,066 1,084,415 
Current tax assets 11 242  -  - - 
Cash in hand and at bank   810,737 460,160 12,860 9,630 

    2,715,437 2,521,189 1,994,135 1,595,175 

Total assets   15,150,835 14,627,583 7,706,289 7,504,369 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves
Share capital 26 795,043 795,043 795,043 795,043 
Revaluation and other reserves 27 4,366,176 4,572,045 3,789,744 4,002,380 
Retained earnings   661,097 523,394 509,349 336,454 

Owners’ interests   5,822,316 5,890,482 5,094,136 5,133,877 
Minority interests   713,165 708,499  -  - 

Total equity  6,535,481 6,598,981 5,094,136 5,133,877 

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 28 4,351,799 4,651,453 652,976 758,100 
Deferred tax liabilities 21 25,479 40,181 4,264 9,395 
Retirement benefit obligations 29 85,992 90,668 13,165 5,750 
Provision for blue print and ERS costs 30 276,055 276,055  -  - 

    4,739,325 5,058,357 670,405 773,245 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 31 645,154 690,009 90,110 93,958 
Payable to related parties   14,223 13,218 13,203 13,283 
Current tax liabilities 11 16,852 12,894 3,102 6,971 
Borrowings 28 3,065,776 2,187,112 1,701,309 1,416,023 
Proposed dividend 32 134,024 67,012 134,024 67,012 

    3,876,029 2,970,245 1,941,748 1,597,247 

Total equity and liabilities   15,150,835 14,627,583 7,706,289 7,504,369 

The financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2010.

Hugues Maigrot Jacques M. d’Unienville
Director Chief Executive Officer

The notes on pages 70 to 107 form an integral part of these 
financial statements. Auditors’ report on page 64.
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for the year ended December 31, 2009

GROUP

 Attributable to equity holders of the company

      Modernisation  Attributable
    Fair and agricultural  to equity
  Share Revaluation value diversification Retained holders of Minority Total
  capital reserve reserve reserve earnings the company interests equity
 Notes Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Balance at January 1, 2009   795,043   4,143,564   222,295   206,186   523,394   5,890,482   708,499   6,598,981 
Total comprehensive  
income for the year  -  - (189,184) -  258,399 69,215 64,666 133,881 
Release on disposal of land  -  (3,172) -  -  -  (3,172) -  (3,172)
Transfer  -  -  -  (13,513)  13,513  -  - - 
Dividends 32  -  -  - -  (134,024)  (134,024)  (60,000)  (194,024)
Consolidation adjustments  -  -  -  - (185)  (185) -  (185)

Balance at December 31, 2009   795,043 4,140,392   33,111   192,673 661,097 5,822,316   713,165   6,535,481 

Balance at January 1, 2008   795,043 4,143,564 316,143 231,783 425,720 5,912,253 91,394 6,003,647 
Total comprehensive 
 income for the year  -  - (93,848) -  283,889 190,041 39,156 229,197 
Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries  -  -  -  -  -  - 577,949 577,949 
Transfer  -  -  -  (25,597)  25,597  -  - - 
Dividends 32  -  -  -  - (134,024)  (134,024) -  (134,024)
Consolidation adjustments  -  -  -  - (77,788)  (77,788) -  (77,788)

Balance at December 31, 2008   795,043   4,143,564   222,295   206,186   523,394   5,890,482   708,499   6,598,981 

COMPANY

      Modernisation
    Fair and agricultural
  Share Revaluation value diversification Retained 
  capital reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
 Notes Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Balance at January 1, 2009   795,043   3,583,699 212,495   206,186   336,454   5,133,877 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  - (195,951) -  293,406 97,455 
Transfer  -  -  -  (13,513)  13,513 - 
Release on disposal of land  -  (3,172) -  -  -  (3,172)
Dividends 32  -  -  -  - (134,024)  (134,024)

Balance at December 31, 2009   795,043 3,580,527 16,544   192,673   509,349 5,094,136 

Balance at January 1, 2008  795,043  3,583,699 312,324 231,783 342,277 5,265,126 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  - (99,829) -  102,604 2,775 
Transfer  -  -  -  (25,597)  25,597 - 
Dividends 32  -  -  -  - (134,024)  (134,024)

Balance at December 31, 2008  795,043  3,583,699 212,495   206,186   336,454 5,133,877 

The notes on pages 70 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on page 64.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended December 31, 2009
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended December 31, 2009

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit before working capital changes a  1,144,786 98,298 99,597 77,752 
Working capital requirements b  109,292 (296,201)  (406,860)  (677,965)

Net cash generated from/(absorbed in) operations   1,254,078 (197,903)  (307,263)  (600,213)
Interest paid   (726,934)  (78,961)  (214,085)  (81,324)
Income tax paid c  (16,931)  (5,417)  (6,883)  (4,674)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities   510,213 (282,281)  (528,231)  (686,211)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (879,504)  (35,596)  (63,370)  (32,358)
Land development  -  8,199  -  8,199 
Investment in cane replantation  (43,574)  (37,947)  (31,832)  (29,816)
Intangible assets   (69,775)  (219,500)  (1,038)  (219,500)
Acquisition of controlling interests in subsidiaries  -  (696,047) -  (636,563)
Acquisition of investments in financial assets  -  (2,623) -  (2,600)
Acquisition of investments in associates   (10,588) -  (10,588)  - 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   5,493 51,957 5,493 51,957 
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties  -  1,291  -  1,291 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets   310,000  -  310,000 - 
Deferred expenditure-infrastructure costs for VRS   (4,397)  (31,658)  (4,394)  (31,658)
Interest received   63,737 73,754 115,953 58,359 
Dividends received from subsidiary companies  -  - 83,800 35,000 
Dividends received from associates  -  146,726  -  16,950 
Dividends received from investments in financial assets   16,952 28,833 14,286 27,312 
VRS cash compensation paid  -  (42,072) -  (32,933)

Net cashflow (used in)/from investing activities   (611,656)  (754,683)  418,310 (786,360)

Financing activities
Dividends paid to company’s shareholders d  (67,012)  (134,024)  (67,012)  (134,024)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders   (60,000) -  - - 
Grant received from Sugar Reform Trust  -  99,360  -  85,417 
Payments of long-term borrowings   (246,307)  (24,380)  (108,035)  (24,380)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings   381,709 748,945  -  748,945 
Net (repayments)/proceeds from short-term borrowings  -  (742,829) -  350,705 

Net cashflow from/(used in) finaning activities   8,390   (52,928)  (175,047)  1,026,663 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (93,053)  (1,089,892)  (284,968)  (445,908)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   (1,081,476)  8,416 (905,260)  (459,352)

Cash and cash equivalents at closing of the year   (1,174,529)  (1,081,476)  (1,190,228)  (905,260)

The notes on pages 70 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on page 64.
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for the year ended December 31, 2009
NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) Operating profit before working capital changes as follows:

 Profit before tax  345,622 315,212 291,289 103,895 
 Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  349,148 27,847 21,576 21,621 
 Amortisation of intangible assets 21,811  -  52 
 Negative goodwill and surplus on transfer of assets -  (218,429) -  - 
 Retirement benefit obligations  (4,676)  13,478 7,415 15,929 
 Dividend income  (16,952)  (28,833)  (98,086)  (79,262)
 Interest income  (63,737)  (73,754)  (115,953)  (58,359)
 Interest expense  726,934 78,961 214,085 81,324 
 Profit on disposal of financial assets  (262,055) -  (262,055)  - 
 Share of results of associates  788 (23,578) -  - 
 Profit on disposal of properties  (3,172)  (50,308)  (3,172)  (50,373)
 Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (1,370)  (6,868)  (1,370)  (6,868)
 Deferred income amortised -  (5,241) -  (5,241)
 Standing canes movement  3,429 17,128 7,202 11,291 
 Amortisation of bearer biological assets  43,647 41,909 34,165 33,021 
 Deferred expenditure amortised  5,369 10,774 4,449 10,774 

 Operating profit before working capital changes  1,144,786 98,298 99,597 77,752 

(b) Working capital requirements comprise of the following:

 Inventories  89,695 3,094 3,685 3,061 
 Trade and other receivables  100,285 34,586 (216,966)  6,494 
 Receivable from related parties  (36,838)  588,170 (189,651)  (475,541)
 Trade and other payables  (44,855)  13,630 (3,848)  54 
 Payable to related parties  1,005 (935,681)  (80)  (212,033)

 Total working capital requirements  109,292 (296,201)  (406,860)  (677,965)

(c) Income tax paid

 Taxation is reconciled to the amounts disclosed in
 the statement of comprehensive income as follows:
 Amounts due at beginning of the year  (12,894)  (5,289)  (6,971)  (2,066)
 Per statement of compresensive income
 (excluding deferred tax movement)  (20,647)  (9,272)  88 (9,579)
 Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries -  (3,750) -  - 
 Amounts due at the end of the year  16,610 12,894  -  6,971 

 Total income tax paid  (16,931)  (5,417)  (6,883)  (4,674)

(d) Dividends paid

 Dividends are reconciled to the amounts disclosed
 in the statement of comprehensive income as follows:
 Amounts due at beginning of the year  (67,012)  (67,012)  (67,012)  (67,012)
 Dividends declared  (134,024)  (134,024)  (134,024)  (134,024)
 Amounts due at the end of the year  134,024 67,012 134,024 67,012 

 Dividends paid  (67,012)  (134,024)  (67,012)  (134,024)

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and balances with banks and bank overdrafts.
 Cash and cash equivalents are represented by:
  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cash in hand and at bank  646,583 81,160 12,860 9,630 
 Debt service reserve account of subsidiaries  164,154 379,000  -  - 
 Bank overdrafts  (1,985,266)  (1,541,636)  (1,203,088)  (914,890)

   (1,174,529)  (1,081,476)  (1,190,228)  (905,260)
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for the year ended December 31, 2009
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

 Omnicane Limited (formerly Mon Trésor and Mon 
Désert Limited) is a limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Mauritius. The 
address of its registered office is 7th Floor, Anglo-
Mauritius House, Adolphe de Plevitz Street, Port 
Louis. These financial statements will be submitted 
for consideration and approval at the forthcoming 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the company.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied 
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

 The financial statements of Omnicane Limited 
(formerly Mon Trésor and Mon Désert Limited) (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the”Group”) comply 
with the Companies Act 2001 and are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). Where necessary, comparative 
figures have been amended to conform with changes 
in presentation in the current year. The financial 
statements are prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except that:

 (i)  Freehold Land is carried at revalued amount;

 (ii)  Investment properties are stated at fair value;

 (iii)  Consumable biological assets are stated at fair  
         value; and

 (iv)  Available-for-sale securities are stated at their  
         fair value.

 Amendments to published standards, Standards 
and Interpretations effective in the reporting period

 IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective 
July 1, 2008)’ clarifies that where goods or services 
are sold together with a customer loyalty incentive 
(for example, loyalty points or free products), the 
arrangement is a multiple element arrangement, 
and the consideration receivable from the customer 
is allocated between the components of the 
arrangement using fair values. This IFRIC will not have 
any impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reclassification of 
Financial Assets (effective July 1, 2008) permit an entity 
to reclassify non-derivative financial assets (other than 
those designated at fair value through profit or loss 
by the entity upon initial recognition) out of the fair 
value through profit or loss category in particular 
circumstances. 

 The amendments also permit an entity to transfer 
from the available-for-sale category to the loans and 
receivables category, a financial asset that would have 
met the definition of loans and receivables (if the 
financial asset had not been designated as available 
for sale), if the entity has the intention and ability to 
hold that financial asset for the foreseeable future. The 
amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s 
financial statements. 

 IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation’ clarifies that the net investment hedging 
relates to differences in functional currency not 
presentation currency, and hedging instruments may 
be held anywhere in the Group. This IFRIC will not have 
any impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (Revised 
2007), prohibits the presentation of items of income 
and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) 
in the statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-
owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately 
from owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes 
in equity will be required to be shown in either one 
performance statement (the income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income). As the change 
in accounting policy only impacts presentation 
aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share. 

 IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ (Revised 2007), requires an 
entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of 
that asset. This IAS has been applied on the Group’s 
qualifying assets.

 IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’, requires a ‘management 
approach’, under which segment information is 
presented on the same basis as that used for internal 
reporting purposes. In addition, the segments are 
reported in a manner that is more consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. Comparatives for 2008 have not  
been restated.

 Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 ‘Puttable financial 
instruments and obligations arising on liquidation’, 
require entities to classify puttable financial 
instruments and instruments, or components of 
instruments that impose on the entity an obligation 
to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the 
net assets of the entity only on liquidation as equity, 
provided the financial instruments have particular 
features and meet specific conditions. 

 The amendment is not expected to have any impact 
on the Group’s financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

 Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Vesting conditions and 
cancellations’, clarify that vesting conditions are 
service conditions and performance conditions only. 
Other features of a share-based payment are not 
vesting conditions. These features would need to be 
included in the grant date fair value for transactions 
with employees and others providing similar services; 
they would not impact the number of awards 
expected to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to 
grant date. All cancellations, whether by the entity or 
by other parties, should receive the same accounting 
treatment. The amendment is not expected to have 
any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

 Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Improving Disclosures about 
Financial Instruments’, requires enhanced disclosures 
about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. 
In particular, the amendment requires disclosure 
of fair value  measurements by level of a fair value 
measurement hierarchy. As the change in accounting 
policy only results in additional disclosures, there is no 
impact on earnings per share.

 IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate’, clarifies whether IAS 18, ‘Revenue’, or IAS 
11, Construction contracts’, should be applied to 
particular transactions. IFRIC 15 is not relevant to 
Group’s operations as all revenue transactions are 
accounted under IAS 18 and not IAS 11.

 Improvements to IFRSs (issued 22 May 2008) 

 IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’, clarifies that some, rather than all financial 
assets and liabilities classified as held for trading 
in accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement’ are examples 
of current assets and liabilities respectively. This 
amendment is not expected to have any impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

 IAS 8 (Amendment), ‘Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ clarifies that 
application of the guidance issued with IFRSs that is 
not an integral part of the Standard is not mandatory 
in selecting and applying accounting policies. This 
amendment is unlikely to have an impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

 Improvements to IFRSs (issued 22 May 2008) 

 IAS 10 (Amendment), ‘Events after the Reporting 
Period’ reinforces the clarification of the explanation as 
to why a dividend declared after the reporting period 
does not result in the recognition of a liability.

  IAS 16 (Amendment), ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ 
requires entities whose ordinary activities comprise 
renting and subsequently selling assets to present 

proceeds from the sale of those assets as revenue and 
transfer the carrying amount of the asset to inventories 
when the asset becomes held for sale. Consequential 
amendment to IAS 7 requires that cash flows arising 
from purchase, rental and sale of those assets to be 
classified as cash flows from operating activities. The 
amendment will not have an impact on the Group’s 
operations. 

 IAS 18 (Amendment), ‘Revenue’, removes the 
inconsistency between IAS 39 and the guidance in 
IAS 18 relating to the definition of costs incurred in 
originating a financial asset that should be deferred 
and recognised as an adjustment to the effective 
interest rate. 

 IAS 19 (Amendment), ‘Employee Benefits’, clarifies 
that a plan amendment that results in a change in 
the extent to which benefit promises are affected 
by future salary increases is a curtailment, while an 
amendment that changes benefits attributable to 
past service gives rise to a negative past service cost 
if it results in a reduction in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation. The definition of return 
on plan assets has been amended to state that plan 
administration costs are deducted in the calculation 
of return on plan assets only to the extent that such 
costs have been excluded from measurement of the 
defined benefit obligation. 

 IAS 20 (Amendment) ‘Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government Assistance, clarifies that 
the benefit of a below market rate government 
loan is measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount in accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial 
instruments: Recognition and measurement’, and the 
proceeds received with the benefit accounted for in 
accordance with IAS 20. This amendment will not have 
an impact on the Group’s operations.

 IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing Costs’, has amended 
the definition of borrowing costs so that interest 
expense is calculated using the effective interest 
method defined in IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement’. This amendment is 
applicable to the Group as there are qualifying assets.

 IAS 27 (Amendment), ‘Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements’ requires an investment in a 
subsidiary that is accounted for under IAS 39, ‘Financial 
instruments: recognition and measurement’, and is 
classified as held for sale under IFRS 5, ‘Non-current 
assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations’, to 
continue to apply IAS 39. The amendment will not 
have an impact on the Group’s operations.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

 IAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investments in Associates’ 
clarifies that an investment in associate is treated as 
a single asset for the purposes of impairment testing. 
Any impairment loss is not allocated to specific 
assets included within the investment, for example, 
goodwill. Reversals of impairment are recorded as 
an adjustment to the investment balance to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the associate 
increases. Where an investment is an investment in an 
associate that is accounted for under IAS 39, ‘Financial 
instruments: recognition and measurement’, only 
certain rather than all disclosure requirements in IAS 
28 need to be made. This amendment will not have an 
impact on the Group’s operations.

 IAS 29 (Amendment), ‘Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies’ has amended the 
guidance to reflect the fact that a number of assets 
and liabilities are measured at fair value rather than 
historical cost. The amendment will not have an 
impact on the Group’s operations.

 Improvements to IFRSs (issued 22 May 2008) 

 IAS 31 (Amendment), ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’ 
requires where an investment in joint venture is 
accounted for in accordance with IAS 39, only certain 
rather than all disclosure requirements in IAS 31 need 
to be made. The amendment will not have an impact 
on the Group’s operations.

 IAS 34 (Amendment), ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ 
clarifies that the presentation of basic and diluted 
earnings per share in interim financial reports is 
required only when the entity is within the scope of 
IAS 33.

 IAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impairment of Assets’ clarifies 
that where fair value less costs to sell is calculated 
on the basis of discounted cash flows, disclosures 
equivalent to those for value-in-use calculation should 
be made.

 IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible Assets’ clarifies that a 
prepayment may only be recognised in the event that 
payment has been made in advance of obtaining right 
of access to goods or receipt of services. Advertising 
and promotional activities includes mail order 
catalogues.

 IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’, clarifies that it is 
possible for there to be movements into and out of 
the fair value through profit or loss category where 
a derivative commences or ceases to qualify as a 
hedging instrument in cash flow or net investment 
hedge. The definition of financial asset or financial 
liability at fair value through profit or loss as it relates 

to items that are held for trading is also amended. This 
clarifies that a financial asset or liability that is part of 
a portfolio of financial instruments managed together 
with evidence of an actual recent pattern of short-term 
profit taking is included in such a portfolio on initial 
recognition. When remeasuring the carrying amount 
of a debt instrument on cessation of fair value hedge 
accounting, the amendment clarifies that a revised 
effective interest rate (calculated at the date fair value 
hedge accounting ceases) is used. The amendment 
will not have an impact on the Group’s operations.

 IAS 40 (Amendment) ‘Investment Property’, clarifies 
that property under construction or development for 
future use as investment property is within the scope 
of IAS 40. Where the fair value model is applied, such 
property is, therefore, measured at fair value. However, 
where fair value of investment property under 
construction is not reliably measurable, the property 
is measured at cost until the earlier of the date 
construction is completed and the date at which fair 
value becomes reliably measurable. The amendment 
will not have an impact on the Group’s operations, as 
there are no investment properties held by the Group.

 IAS 41 (Amendment), ‘Agriculture’, requires the use 
of a market-based discount rate where fair value 
calculations are based on discounted cash flows and 
the removal of the prohibition on taking into account 
biological transformation when calculating fair value. 
The amendment replaces the terms ‘point-of sale 
costs’ and ‘estimated point-of-sale costs’ with ‘costs to 
sell’. The amendment will not have an impact on the 
Group’s operations, as no agricultural activities are 
undertaken.

 IFRS 7 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, clarifies that interest income is not a 
component of finance costs.

 Amendments to published standards, Standards 
and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

 Certain standards, amendments to published 
standards and interpretations have been issued that 
are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2010 or later periods, but which the 
Group has not early adopted. 

 At the reporting date of these financial statements, 
the following were in issue but not yet effective:

 Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 Embedded 
Derivatives

 IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (Revised 2008)

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised 2008)

 Amendments to IAS 39 Eligible hedged items
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(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

 Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 27 Cost of an 
Investment in a Subsidiary 

 IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

 IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

 Amendments to IFRS 1 Additional Exemptions for 
First-time Adopters

 Amendments to IFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions

 Classification of Rights Issues (Amendment to IAS 32)

 IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments

 Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement 

 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised 2009)

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

 Improvements to IFRSs (issued 22 May 2008) 

 IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations 

 Improvements to IFRSs (issued 16 April 2009)

 IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

 IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations

 IFRS 8 Operating Segments

 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

 IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

 IAS 17 Leases

 IAS 18 Revenue

 IAS 36 Impairment of Assets

 IAS 38 Intangible Assets

 IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement

 IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

 IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation

 The Group is still evaluating the effect that these 
amendments to published Standards, Standards and 
Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the 
presentation of its financial statements.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. 

(b) Turnover

 Turnover represents the gross proceeds of sugar, 
molasses, bagasse and income receivable for the 
supply of electricity to the National Grid of the Central 
Electricity Board.

 Sugar and molasses proceeds are recognised on 
total production of the crop year. Bagasse proceeds 
are accounted as and when it is receivable for the 
Group. Sugar and molasses prices are based on 
prices recommended by the Mauritius Chamber of 
Agriculture for the crop year after consultation with 
the Mauritius Sugar Syndicate. 

 The difference between the recommended price and 
the final price is reflected in the financial year in which 
it is established.

 Other revenues earned by the Group are recognised 
on the following basis:

 Dividend income - when the shareholders’ right to 
receive payment is established.

 Interest income - on a time-proportion basis using the 
effective interest method.

 SIFB compensation - on an accrual basis.

(c) Government grants

 Government grants are not recognised until there is 
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants 
will be received.

 Government grants are recognised as income over 
the periods necessary to match them with the 
costs for which they are intended to compensate, 
on a systematic basis. Government grants that 
are receivable as compensation for expenses or 
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Group with no 
future related costs are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
become receivable.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

 All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded 
at cost. Freehold Land is subsequently revalued. 

 Freehold land has been revalued by Gexim land 
Consultants, property valuers in December 2007 
based on open market value.

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation 
are credited to revaluation and other reserves in 
shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged against the 
revaluation reserve; all other decreases are charged to 
the statement of comprehensive income. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method 
to write off the cost of assets, or the revalued amounts, 
to their residual values over their estimated useful lives 
as follows:

 The annual rates used for the purpose are:

 Buildings  2 - 2.25 %

 Agricultural equipment  20 %

 Plant & Machinery  5 - 5.75 %

 Transport equipment  20 %

 Furniture and office equipment 5 - 20 %

 Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and 
losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
are determined by reference to their carrying amount 
and are taken into account in determining operating 
profit. On disposal of revalued assets, amounts in 
revaluation and other reserves relating to that asset 
are transferred to retained earnings.

(e) Investment properties

 Investment properties consist of land held for capital 
appreciation and are stated at fair value. Gains 
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
investment properties are included in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the year in which they 
arise. Investment properties have been valued at fair 
value by Gexim Land Consultants, property valuers, 
in December 2003. The valuation was arrived by 
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for 
similar properties.

(f ) Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period 
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale 
are capitalised as part of the cost of the assets until 
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
in the period in which they are incurred.

(g) Intangible assets

 Intangible assets acquired seperately are measured 
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

imparment losses. Internally generated intangible 
assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are 
not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the year in 
which the expenditure is incurred.

 The useful lives on intangible assets are assessed as 
either finite or definite. 

 Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over 
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a 
finite life is reviewed at least at each financial year end. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing 
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, 
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
The amortisation expense on intangible assets 
with finite lives is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the expense category with 
the function of the intangible asset.

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment annually 
either individually or at the cash generating unit level. 
The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income when the  asset 
is derecognised.

 Professional fees relating to the Power Purchase 
Agreement

 In the case of professional feess incurred in relation to 
the Purchasing Power Agreement (PPA), the useful life 
is taken as the term of the contract, that is 20 years.

 Accounting software

 The accounting software licence has been granted for 
a period of three years with the option of renewal at 
the end of this period.

 Goodwill 

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/
associate at the date of acquisition. 
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(continued)

(g) Intangible assets (continued)

 Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates 
is included in investment in associates. Goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of 
the group’s cash generating units.

 If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on 
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is 
not reversed in a subsequent period.

 Blue Print costs

 The cash compensation together with the costs of 
land and infrastructure payable under the Blue Print 
and Early Retirement Scheme is capitalised as deferred 
expenditure. Such costs are charged to statement of 
comprehensive income when the associated benefits 
related to the special rights to acquire, convert and 
sell agricultural land are realised. At the end of each 
financial year, the carrying amount is subject to testing 
for impairment and reduced to the recoverable 
amount if this is less.

 Energy management contract 

 Following the acquisition of the undertaking of Société 
Usinière du Sud (SUDS), Omnicane Milling Operations 
Limited (formerly known as Compagnie Sucrière du 
Sud Ltée) has acquired the rights to the management 
contract between SUDS, Omnicane Thermal 
Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited (formerly 
known as Central Thermique Du Sud Ltée) and 
Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) 
Limited (formerly known as Central Thermique De 
Savannah Ltée), two energy generating entities. This 
management contract will run for a period of twenty 
years in line with the provisions of the Purchasing 
Power Agreement between Omnicane Thermal 
Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited (formerly known 
as Central Thermique du Sud Ltée) and Omnicane 
Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited 
(formerly known as Central Thermique De Savannah 
Ltée) and the Central Electricity Board. These, rights 
have been recognised as an intangible asset with 
definite life and recorded at its fair value.

 Factory upgrading and modernising expenditure

 Following the closure of Riche-en-Eau, Mon Trésor 
Mill and Saint Félix Mill (belonging to Compagnie 
Usinière de Saint Félix Limitée), La Baraque Sugar 

Factory has become the sole cane receiving mill. 
SUDS has therefore upgraded and modernised La 
Baraque Sugar Factory to cater for the increase in 
cane. The cost of upgrade and modernisation will be 
financed through special rights to acquire, convert 
and sell agricultural land under the provisions of the 
Sugar Industry Efficiency Act (SIE ACT). Following the 
acquisition of the undertaking of SUDS, Omnicane 
Milling Operations Limited (formerly known as 
Compagnie Sucrière du Sud Ltée) has acquired these 
special rights and has recognised these rights as an 
intangible asset and valued them at the cost of the 
expenditure incurred. Management has determined 
that this intangible asset has an indefinite life and will 
be assessed for impairment on an annual basis. 

 Rebranding cost

 In 2009, the Group completed a rebranding exercise 
aiming at regrouping all members under a common 
brand. All cost associated to the rebranding exercise 
has been capitalised and included as intangible assets. 
Rebranding cost is amortised over a period of 20 
years, time at which a full review of the brand will be 
performed.

(h) Investment in subsidiaries

 The Company

 Investments in subsidiary companies are carried at 
cost. The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any 
impairment in the value of individual investments.

 The Group

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the company and enterprises 
controlled by the company (its subsidiaries) made 
up to the financial period. Control is achieved 
where the  company has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an investee 
enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the period are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income from the date 
of their acquisition or up to the date of their disposal.  
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the acquisition method. 
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets. 

 Any net excess of the group’s interest in the net fair 
value of acquiree’s net identifiable assets over cost 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income as negative goodwill. 
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(continued)

(h) Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

 All significant intercompany transactions, balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used in line with those used by 
other members of the group. 

(i) Investments in associates

 The Company

 Investments in associated companies are carried at 
cost. The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any 
impairment in the value of individual investments.

 The Group

 An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence but not control, or joint control.

 Investments in associated companies are accounted 
for by the equity method. 

 Investment in associates are initially recorded at 
cost as adjusted by post acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate less 
any impairment in the value of individual investments. 
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interests 
in an associate, the Group discontinues recognising 
further losses, unless it has a legal or constructive 
obligation to make payments on behalf of the 
associate.

 Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interests in the associate.

(j) Business combinations

 The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using 
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the 
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the group 
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination. The 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 
under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair values at the 
acquisition date.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an 
asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess 
of the cost of the business combination over the 
group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. 
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilites and 

contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business 
combination, the excess is recognised immediately in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

(k) Bearer biological assets

 Cane replantation costs are deferred at cost and 
amortised over 7 years.

(l) Consumable biological assets

 Standing canes are measured at fair value. The fair 
value of the living plants held for sale is based on 
expected selling price and future direct costs to bring 
the biological assets to saleable condition, discounted 
at an appropriate discount rate to reporting date.

(m) Deferred Expenditure

 Voluntary Retirement Scheme (VRS) costs

 VRS costs are capitalised as deferred expenditure when 
incurred as the costs will be recouped through the 
sale of land on which no land conversion tax will be 
payable. VRS costs is amortised over a period of seven 
years. The amortisation period is reviewed periodically 
to reflect the circumstances of the company. When the 
sale of land is realised, the corresponding unamortised 
portion of deferred cost will be recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(n) Deferred Taxation

 Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability 
method, for all temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
values for financial reporting purposes.

 The principal temporary differences arise from 
depreciation on property, plant and equipment, 
revaluation of certain non-current assets, provisions 
for retirement benefit obligations and tax losses 
carried forward. Deferred tax assets relating to the 
carry forward of unused tax losses are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the unused tax losses 
can be utilised.

(o) Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted 
average method. The cost of finished goods and work 
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, 
other direct costs and related production overheads 
but excludes interest expense. Net realisable value 
is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary  
course of business less the costs of completion and 
selling expenses.
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(p) Land under development

 Land under development comprise of cost of land to be 
sold and related infrastructural costs. This expenditure 
is released to statement of comprehensive income to 
the extent cash is received on the sale of land.

(q) Retirement benefit obligations

 Defined benefit pension plan

 The cost of providing benefits are actuarially 
determined using the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of funded obligations is recognised 
in the statement of financial position as a non-current 
liability after adjusting for the fair value of plan assets, 
any unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and 
any unrecognised past service cost. The valuation  
of funded obligations is carried out annually by a firm 
of actuaries.

 The current service cost and any recognised past 
service cost are included as an expense together with 
the associated interest cost, net of expected return on 
plan assets.

 A portion of the actuarial gains and losses will be 
recognised as income or expense if the net cumulative 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses at the end of 
the previous accounting period exceeded the greater 
of: 

 (i) 10% of the present value of the defined benefit  
         obligation at that date; and

 (ii) 10% of the fair value of plan assets at that date.

 Other retirement benefits

 The present value of other retirement benefits in 
respect of Labour Act gratuities is recognised in the 
statement of financial position as a non-current 
liability.

 State plan and defined contribution pension plan

 Contributions to the National Pension Scheme and 
defined contribution pension plan are expensed to 
the statement of comprehensive income in the period 
in which they fall due.

(r) Foreign currencies

 Transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling on the 
transaction date. 

 Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign 
currencies are translated into Mauritian Rupees at the 
rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial 
position date. Exchange differences arising from 
foreign currencies transactions are accounted for in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

(s) Income tax

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for 
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the statement of comprehensive income because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible.

(t) Financial instruments

 The Group’s accounting policies in respect of the main 
financial instruments are set out below:

 (i)   Investment in financial assets

 Initial recognition

 Investments are recognised on a trade-date basis and 
are initially measured at cost.

 Subsequent recognition

 Available-for-sale securities

 Available-for-sale securities are measured at 
subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Unrealised 
gains and losses on such securities are recognised 
directly in equity (revaluation and other reserves - fair 
value reserve) until the security is disposed of or found 
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity is included in the 
net profit or loss for the period.

 Fair value

 The fair value of publicly traded available-for-sale 
securities is based on their market value which is 
calculated by reference to the Stock Exchange prices 
at the close of business at the reporting date. 

 The unquoted investments are valued at cost less any 
impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable 
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, cost is 
equivalent to fair value. 

 (ii)  Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They arise when the 
Group provides money, goods or services directly to 
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. 
They are included in current assets when maturity is 
within twelve months ofafter the end of the reporting 
period date or non-current assets for maturities 
greater than twelve months.
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(continued)

(t) Financial instruments (continued)

 (iii)  Trade receivables

 Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms  
of receivables. 

 The amount of the provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective 
interest rate. The amount of provision is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

 (iv)  Borrowings

 Interest-bearing bank loans, debentures and 
overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, 
net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption, are 
accounted for on an accrual basis and are added to 
the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 
that they are not settled in the period in which  
they arise.

 Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least twelve months after the end 
of the reporting period.

 (v)  Trade payables

 Trade payables are stated at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

 (vi)  Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and bank overdrafts.

 Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the statement of financial 
position.

 (vii) Equity instruments

 Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

 (viii)   Share capital

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(u) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events which it is probable will result in an outflow of 
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated. 
They are measured at the directors’ best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the obligation 
at thefinancial position date date. Provisions are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate.

(v) Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) 

 Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) is provided for, where 
the Group which has a tax liability of less than7.5% 
of its book profit pays a dividend. AMT is calculated 
as the lower of 10% of the dividend paid and 7.5% of 
book profit.

 
(w) Impairment of assets

 Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

(x) Related parties

 Related parties are individuals and companies where 
the individual or company has the ability, directly 
or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions.

(y) Dividend distribution

 Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders 
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends  
are declared.

(z) Segment reporting

 Segment information presented relate to the opening 
segments that engage in the business activities for 
which revenues are earned and expenses incurred.
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 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
end of the reporting period. A market is regarded 
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and 
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The 
quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments 
are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 
1 comprise primarily quoted equity investments 
classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.

 The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market data where 
it is available and rely as little as possible on specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair 
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is 
included in level 2. 

 If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on 
observable market data, the instrument is included in 
level 3. 

 Specific valuation techniques used to value financial 
instruments include: Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments. Other techniques, such 
as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine 
fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

 The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments 
of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cashflows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the 
Group for similar financial instruments.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

 Key resources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed 
below.

(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill

 Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value 
in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating units and a suitable discount rate in order 
to calculate present value. The carrying amount of 
goodwill at the reporting date was Rs.73.2 M.

(ii) Consumable biological assets - Standing Canes 

 The fair value of consumable biological assets has 
been arrived at by discounting the present value of 
expected net cash flows from standing canes at the 
relevant market determined pre-tax rate. 

 The expected cash flows have been computed 
by estimating the expected crop and the sugar 
extraction rate and the forecasts of sugar prices which 
will prevail in the coming year for standing canes. The 
harvesting costs and other direct expenses are based 
on the yearly budgets of the Group.

(iii) Other investments - Available for sale

 Level 3 Available-for-sale investments are stated at 
cost since no reliable estimate could be obtained 
to compute the fair value of these securities. The 
directors used their judgement at year-end and 
reviewed the carrying amount of these investments 
and in their opinion there were no material difference 
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the 
unquoted securities. To their judgement, the carrying 
amount reflect the fair value of these investments.

(iv) IFRIC 4 - Whether arrangements contains a lease

 In preparing these financial statements, the Directors 
have considered the implications of IFRIC 4 - “Whether 
an arrangement contains a lease” and have concluded 
that the Power Purchase Agreement of the energy 
subsidiaries with the Central Electricity Board does 
meet the criteria qualifying for a lease arrangement.

(v) Sale of Land

 At December 31, 2009, management considered the 
recoverability of proceeds from sale of land under 
Section 8 of the Land Acquisition Act. Proceeds have 
been determined on a case by case basis and take into 
account the location of the land, surveyors’ report and 
previous sale of similar properties in the vicinity.
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5 TURNOvER

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Sugar, molasses and bagasses  827,271 351,986 272,808 281,301 
 Sugar insurance compensation  10,840 12,030 1,904 8,776 
 Sale of electricity  2,274,955  -  - - 
 Agricultural diversification and others  79,001 96,499 44,214 47,224 

   3,192,067 460,515 318,926 337,301 

6 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Profit on sale of property,  plant and equipment  1,370 6,868 1,370 6,868 

7 OPERATING PROFIT

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
 Operating profit is arrived at after

 charging:
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  349,148 27,847 21,576 21,621 
 Sugar insurance premium  63,980 28,420 20,856 23,252 
 Amortisation of bearer biological assets  43,647 41,908 34,165 33,021 
 Amortisation of intangible assets  16,785 -  - -
 Raw materials and consumables used 1,362,841 226,657 72,603 98,848 
 Employees remuneration (note 7(a))  245,692 103,013 97,547 93,124 
 Other expenses 410,642 (16,320)  54,334   26,263 

 and crediting:
 Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,370)  (6,868)  (1,370)  (6,868)

(a) Staff costs
 Wages and salaries  228,393 93,556 91,086 85,596 
 Pension costs  17,299 9,457 6,461 7,528 

   245,692 103,013 97,547 93,124 

8 INvESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Interest income  63,737 73,754 115,953 58,359 
 Dividend income  16,952 28,833 98,086 79,262 

   80,689 102,587 214,039 137,621 
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9 FINANCE COSTS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Foreign exchange transaction gains  (14,954) -  (2,025)  - 

 Interest expense:
 - Bank overdrafts  165,545 77,035 103,426 77,035 
 - Bank and other loans 561,389 1,926 110,659 4,289 

   726,934 78,961 214,085 81,324 

   711,980 78,961 216,110 81,324 

10 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Profit on disposal of financial assets  262,055  -  262,055 - 
 Profit on disposal of land  23,741 21,623 23,741 21,623 
 Negative goodwill -  179,501  -  - 
 Surplus on transfer of assets  -  38,928  -  - 

   285,796 240,052 285,796 21,623 

11 TAXATION

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Current tax on adjusted profit for the year  
at 15% (2008:15%)  2,141 7,453  -  6,971 

 Alternative minimum tax 15,000  -  - - 
 Under/(over) provision in prior years 404 1,819 (88)  2,608 
 National residential property tax  3,102  -  3,102 - 
 Deferred tax  1,910 (17,105)  (5,131)  (8,288)

   22,557 (7,833)  (2,117)  1,291 
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11 TAXATION (continued)

(a) Statement of comprehensive income

 The tax on the group’s and company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the basic rate of the group/company as follows:

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Profit before tax:  345,622   315,212  291,289   103,895 

 Tax calculated at a rate of 15% (2008: 15%)  51,843 47,282 43,693 15,584 
 Income not subject to tax  (61,783)  (41,009)  (50,636)  (40,078)
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  14,093 7,597 1,812 6,446 
 Depreciation on assets not eligible for capital allowances -  32  -  - 
 Alternative minimum tax  15,000 2,931  -  9,670 
 National residential property tax  3,102  -  3,102 9,669 
 Under/(over) provision in previous year  404  -  (88)  - 
 Others  (102)  (24,666) -  - 

 Tax charge/(credit) for the year  22,557   (7,833)  (2,117)  1,291 

(b) Statement of financial position

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1,  12,894 5,289 6,971 2,066 

 Movement during the year:
 Current tax on the adjusted profit ,for the year (15%)  2,141 7,453  -  6,971 
 National residential property tax  3,102  3,102 - 
 Alternative minimum tax  15,000  -  - - 
 Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries -  3,750  -  - 

   20,243 11,203 3,102 6,971 

 Less:
 Alternative minimum tax paid
 Under /(over) provision in previous year  404 1,820 (88)  2,608 
 Tax paid  (16,931)  (5,418)  (6,883)  (4,674)

   (16,527)  (3,598)  (6,971)  (2,066)

 At December 31,  16,610 12,894   3,102 6,971 

 Disclosed as follows:
 Current tax assets  (242) -  - - 
 Current tax liabilities  16,852 12,894 3,102 6,971 

   16,610 12,894 3,102 6,971 
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Basic earnings per share (Rs.)  3.86  4.24 4.38  1.53 

 Based on:

 Profit after tax and minority interests (Rs’000)  258,399   283,889   293,406  102,604 
 Number of ordinary shares in issue  67,012,404 67,012,404 67,012,404 67,012,404 

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) THE GROUP

  Freehold  Leasehold Plant and
  Land Buildings Properties Equipment Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2009
 Valuation / Cost  4,515,460 189,079 2,466 7,992,957 12,699,962 
 Accumulated depreciation -  (55,783) -  (1,757,182)  (1,812,965)

 Net Book Value  4,515,460 133,296 2,466 6,235,775 10,886,997 

 2008
 Valuation / Cost  4,519,583 186,851 3,233 7,115,681 11,825,348 
 Accumulated depreciation -  (49,001)  (767)  (1,414,816)  (1,464,584)

 Net Book Value  4,519,583   137,850   2,466   5,700,865   10,360,764 

 Net Book values
  Freehold  Leasehold Plant and
  Land Buildings Properties Equipment Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2009
 At January 1, 2009  4,519,583 137,850 2,466 5,700,865 10,360,764 
 Additions -  2,228  -  877,276 879,504 
 Disposals  (4,123) -  -  -  (4,123)
 Depreciation - (6,782)  - (342,366)  (349,148)

 At December 31, 2009  4,515,460   133,296   2,466   6,235,775 10,886,997 

 2008
 At January 1, 2008  4,447,422 18,196 2,466 68,923 4,537,007 
 Additions -  -  - 35,596 35,596 
 Disposals  (2,248) -  - (357)  (2,605)
 Acquisition of subsidiaries  74,409 120,736  -  5,623,843 5,818,988 
 Scrap adjustment -  (365) -  (10)  (375)
 Depreciation -  (717) - (27,130)  (27,847)

 At December 31, 2008  4,519,583   137,850   2,466   5,700,865 10,360,764 
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(i) Freehold Land has been revalued by Gexim Land Consultants, property valuers in December 2007 based on open 
market value. The revaluation surplus was credited to revaluation reserve.

(ii) Borrowings are secured by floating charges on the asset of the group, including property, plant and equipment.

(iii) If the freehold land was stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

  2009 2008
  Freehold Freehold
  Land Land
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost  631,352 632,312

b) THE COMPANY

  Freehold  Leasehold Plant and
  Land Buildings Properties Equipment Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
 2009
 Valuation / Cost  3,788,886 25,696 2,466 322,317 4,139,365 
 Accumulated depreciation -  (14,002) -  (221,773)  (235,775)

 Net Book Value  3,788,886 11,694 2,466 100,544 3,903,590 

 2008
 Valuation / Cost  3,793,009 23,490 3,233 261,153 4,080,885 
 Accumulated depreciation -  (13,650)  (767)  (200,549)  (214,966)

 Net Book Value  3,793,009   9,840   2,466   60,604   3,865,919 

 Net Book values
  Freehold  Leasehold Plant and
  Land Buildings Properties Equipment Total
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
 2009
 At January 1, 2009  3,793,009 9,839 2,466 60,605 3,865,919 
 Additions -  2,206  -  61,164 63,370 
 Disposals  (4,123) -  -  -  (4,123)
 Depreciation -  (351) - (21,225)  (21,576)

 At December 31, 2009  3,788,886   11,694   2,466   100,544 3,903,590 

 2008
 At January 1, 2008  3,795,192 10,682 2,466 49,757 3,858,097 
 Additions -  -  - 32,358 32,358 
 Disposals  (2,183) -  - (357)  (2,540)
 Scrap adjustment -  (365) -  (10)  (375)
 Depreciation -  (478) - (21,143)  (21,621)

 At December 31, 2008  3,793,009   9,839   2,466   60,605 3,865,919 
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(i) Freehold land has been revalued by Gexim Land Consultants, property valuers based on open market value. The 
revaluation surplus was credited to revaluation reserve.

(ii) Borrowings are secured by floating charges on the asset of the group, including property, plant and equipment.

(iii) If the freehold land was stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

  2009 2008
  Freehold Freehold
  Land Land
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost  467,294 468,254

14 INvESTMENT PROPERTIES

 THE GROUP & THE COMPANY
  Land

  2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Net Book value
 At January 1, 9,643 10,934 
 Disposals -  (1,291)

 At December 31, 9,643 9,643 

(b) Investment properties have been valued at fair value by Gexim Land Consultants, property valuers, in December 
2003. The valuation was arrived by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. There 
was no rental income and no direct operating expenses attributable to the investment properties. The directors 
are of the opinion that the carrying value reflects the fair value at December 31, 2009.

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(a) THE GROUP
  2009 2008

  Software &    
  Professional  Centralisation  Management Rebranding
  Fees Goodwill Costs Contracts Costs Total Total
   Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 

 Cost
 At January 1,  85,052 73,253 408,064 555,200  -  1,121,569 84,899 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries -  -  -  -  -  - 473,426 
 Additions -  - 58,442 - 11,333 69,775 563,244 

 At December 31,  85,052 73,253 466,506 555,200 11,333 1,191,344   1,121,569 

 Amortisation
 At January 1,  9,655  -  12,432  -  - 22,087 12,432 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries -  -  -   - -  - 9,655 
 Charge for the year  4,460  - -  16,784 567 21,811 - 

 At December 31,  14,115  -  12,432 16,784 567 43,898   22,087 

 Carrying Amount
 At December 31,  70,937 73,253 454,074 538,416 10,766 1,147,446   1,099,482 
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  Goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as 
follows:

  THE GROUP

  2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Floreal Ltd  427 427 
 Omnicane Agricultural Operations Limited (formerly Benares Sugar Co Ltd)  20,152 20,152 
 Omnicane Milling Holdings (Britannia Highlands) Limited  

(formerly Britannia Highlands Milling Co. Ltd)  6,077 6,077 
 Omnicane Thermal Energy Holdings (St Aubin) Limited  

(formerly Compagnie Energie Sud Limitée)  46,597 46,597 

   73,253 73,253 

 Impairment assessment has been performed comparing net realisable value, based on land development potential 
and carrying amount. No impairment of goodwill is considered necessary.

b) THE COMPANY
  2009 2008

   Rebranding Management  Management 
   cost Contract  Total Contract 
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
 Cost
 At January 1, -  219,500 219,500 - 
 Additions  1,038  -  1,038 219,500 

 At December 31,  1,038 219,500 220,538 219,500 

 Amortisation
 At January 1, -  -  -  - 
 Charge for the year  52  -  52 - 

 At December 31,  52  -  52 - 

 Net Book values
 At December 31,  986 219,500 220,486 219,500 

16 INvESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

 THE COMPANY

  2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost
 At January 1, 1,364,831 542,339 
 Additions -  636,563 
 Transfer from investment in associates -  185,929 

 At December 31, 1,364,831 1,364,831
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16 INvESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (continued)

(a) The following companies are subsidiaries of Omnicane Limited (formerly Mon Trésor and Mon Désert Limited):

  2009 & 2008

  % Holding Amount

     Held by
  Type of  Held other group
  Company shares held Activity Directly companies Rs’000

 Direct Holding
.  Omnicane Milling Holdings (Mon Trésor) Limited Ordinary Investment  80  -  118,242 
 (Formerly Mon Tresor Milling Company Limited)

.  Omnicane Milling Holdings (Britannia Highlands) Limited Ordinary Investment  80  -  272,036 
 (Formerly Britannia Highlands Milling Co. Limited)

.  Floreal Limited Ordinary Investment  100  -  3,188 

.  FAW Investment Limited Ordinary Investment  100  -  148,206 

.  Exotic Exports Limited Ordinary Flower Export  100  -  642 

.  Omnicane Logistics Operations Limited Ordinary Transport  100  -  25 
 (Formerly Southern Region Haulage Co. Limited)

.  Omnicane Thermal Energy Holdings (St Aubin) Limited Ordinary Investment  100  -  535,221 
 (Formerly Compagnie Energie Sud Limitée)

.  Omnicane Holdings (La Baraque) Thermal Energy Limited Ordinary Investment  100  -  287,271 
 (Formerly Compagnie Energie Savannah Limitée)       

      1,364,831 

 Indirect Holding

.  Omnicane Milling Operations Limited Ordinary Sugar Milling -  80 390,888 
 (Formerly Compagnie Sucrière du Sud Limitée)

.  Omnicane Agricultural Operations Limited Ordinary Sugar Growing -  100 10,400 
 (Formerly Benares Sugar Company Limited)

.  Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (St Aubin) Limited Ordinary Energy -  60 153,000 
 (Formerly Compagnie Thermique du Sud Limitée)

.  Omnicane Thermal Energy Operations (La Baraque) Limited Ordinary Energy -  60 456,600 
 (Formerly Compagnie Thermique de Savannah Limitée)

       1,010,888 

(b) The financial statements of all above subsidiaries, included in the consolidated financial statements, are co terminous 
with those of the holding company. Except for FAW Investment Limited, which is incorporated in the Isle of Man, all 
the subsidiary companies are incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius.
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17 INvESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

(a) At January 1,  20,890 468,919 100 185,929 
 Impairment of assets -  (62,637) -  - 
 Share of profit after taxation  (788)  23,578  -  - 
 Dividends -  (9,150) -  - 
 Movement in reserves  (13) -  - - 

 Effect of acquisition:

 Copésud (Mauritius) Ltée  10,588 100 10,588 100 

 Omnicane Thermal Energy Holdings (St Aubin) Limited
 - Cost -  (46,666) -  (46,666)
 - Share of post-acquisition profit -  (38,476) -  - 

 Omnicane Holdings (La Baraque) Thermal Energy Limited
 - Cost -  (139,263) -  (139,263)
 - Share of post-acquisition profit -  (49,579) -  - 
 Coal Terminal (Management) Co. Ltd -  20,790  -  - 
 Société Usinière du Sud -  (146,726) -  - 

 At December 31, 30,677 20,890 10,688 100 

 The undertakings of Société Usinière du Sud was transferred to Omnicane Milling Operations Limited (formerly 
Compagnie Sucrière du Sud Limitée) in December 2008.

(b) The results of the following associated companies have been included in the consolidated financial statements:

    Country of  Direct Indirect   Profit
 Name Year end incorporation Interest Interest Assets Liabilities /(Loss) Revenues
    % % Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2009

 Coal Terminal 
(Management) 
 Co. Ltd December 31, Mauritius  -    24.43   48,870   48,711   809   44,308 

 Copesud 
(Mauritius) Ltée December 31, Mauritius  25.00   -    114,788   76,503   (4,423)  41,860 

       163,658   125,214   (3,614)  86,168 

 2008

 Coal Terminal  
(Management)  
Co. Ltd December 31, Mauritius  -     24.43   22,545   23,044   (231,719)  689,781
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18 INvESTMENT IN FINANCIAL ASSETS

(i) Non-Current
  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008

  Level 1 Level 3 TOTAL TOTAL Level 1 Level 3 TOTAL TOTAL
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Available-for-Sale
 At January 1, 289,404 8,670 298,074 389,492 278,485 8,567 287,052 384,381 
 Additions -  -  -  2,623  -  -  -  2,500 
 Disposal  (255,024) -  (255,024) -  (255,024) -  (255,024) -
 Increase/(decrease) in fair value  17,894  -  17,894 (93,848)  11,127  -  11,127 (99,829)

 At December 31,  52,274 8,670 60,944 298,267 34,588 8,567 43,155 287,052 

(ii) Level 3 investments are stated at cost since reliable fair values cannot be obtained. At the reporting date, the 
Directors reviewed the carrying amount of investments and in their opinion, there is no objective evidence that 
the investments are impaired.

19 BEARER BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost 
 At January 1, 331,310 329,348 260,965  258,925 
 Additions  43,574 37,947 31,832 29,816 
 Write off  (21,338)  (35,985)  (21,338)  (27,776)

 At December 31, 353,546 331,310 271,459 260,965 

 Amortisation 
 At January 1, 153,199 147,275 121,031 115,786 
 Amortisation  43,647 41,909 34,165 33,021 
 Write off  (21,338)  (35,985)  (21,338)  (27,776)

 At December 31, 175,508 153,199 133,858 121,031 

 Net Book values  178,038 178,111 137,601 139,934 

 Bearer biological assets represent cane replantation expenditure that have an expected life cycle of 7 years as they 
would normally generate 7 years of crop harvest. 

 In line with IAS 41 - Agriculture, the replantation costs are deferred and amortised over 7 years.
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20 DEFERRED EXPENDITURE

 VOLUNTARY RETIREMENT SCHEME COSTS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Cost
 At January 1, 162,983 213,266 142,112 187,591 
 Cash compensation paid -  42,072  -  32,933 
 Grant from Sugar Reform Trust -  (99,359) -  (85,416)
 Infrastructure and other social cost  4,397 31,658 4,394 31,658 
 Pension cost release -  (24,654) -  (24,654)

 At December 31, 167,380 162,983 146,506 142,112 

 Amortisation
 At January 1, 135,260 124,486 119,897 109,123 
 Charge for the year  5,369 10,774 4,449 10,774 

 At December 31, 140,629 135,260 124,346 119,897 

 Carrying amount
 At December 31, 26,751 27,723 22,160 22,215 

 The Voluntary Retirement Scheme costs comprise of compensation payments, provision for land infrastructure 
and other costs less refunds received from the Mauritius Sugar Reform trust. The net expenses are amortised over 
a period of 7 years.

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 

 Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability methods at 15% (2008: 15%). 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

(a) THE GROUP

 The following amounts are shown net in the statement of financial position:

  2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Deferred tax liabilities  25,479 40,181 
 Deferred tax assets  (94,902)  (111,514)

   (69,423)  (71,333)
 
 Movement in deferred income tax

  2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, (71,333)  25,406 
 Charged/(credited) to statement of comprehensive income 1,910 (17,105)
 Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries -  (79,634)

 At December 31, (69,423)  (71,333)
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21 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continued)

(a) THE GROUP (continued)

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities and deferred tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income are  
attributable to the following items:

   Movement in 
   statement of  At 
  At January 1, comprehensive December 31,
   2008 income 2009 
   Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 

 Deferred income tax liabilities
 Biological assets 20,990 (350)  20,640 
 Accumulated tax depreciation  131,009 187,695 318,704 
 VRS costs  3,332 (8)  3,324 

   155,331 187,337 342,668 

 Deferred income tax assets
 Tax losses carried forward  (208,487)  (185,405)  (393,892)
 Provision for infrastucture costs  (6,379)  (1,013)  (7,392)
 Retirement benefit obligations  (11,798)  991 (10,807)

   (226,664)  (185,427)  (412,091)

 Net deferred income tax assets  (71,333)  1,910 (69,423)

(b) THE COMPANY

  2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, 9,395 17,683 
 Charged to statement of comprehensive income  (5,131)  (8,288)

 At December 31, 4,264 9,395 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities, deferred tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income and deferred tax 
charge in equity are attributable to the following items:

   Movement in 
   statement of At 
   At January 1,  comprehensive  December 31, 
   2008 income 2009 
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 

 Deferred income tax liabilities
 Biological assets 20,990 (350)  20,640 
 Accumulated tax depreciation  1,271 (611)  660 
 VRS costs  3,332 (8)  3,324 

   25,593 (969)  24,624 
 Deferred income tax assets
 Tax losses carried forward  (8,957)  (2,036)  (10,993)
 Provision for infrastucture costs  (6,379)  (1,013)  (7,392)
 Retirement benefit obligations  (862)  (1,113)  (1,975)

   (16,198)  (4,162)  (20,360)

 Net deferred income tax liabilities  9,395 (5,131)  4,264 



Omnicane Limited Annual Report  2009 P. 92

for the year ended December 31, 2009
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 INvENTORIES

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Spare parts and consumables (at cost)
  - Growing  12,109 16,550 12,109 15,794 
  - Milling & others  59,803 44,642  -  - 
  - Energy production  207,787 308,202  -  - 

 Total  279,699   369,394 12,109 15,794 

(i) The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in operating expenses amounted to Rs 1,362,841,000 
(2008: Rs.226,657,000) for the group and Rs.72,603,000 (2008: Rs.95,848,000) for the company.

(ii) Borrowings are secured by floating charges on the assets of the group, including inventories. 

23 CONSUMABLE BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, 119,980 137,108 99,947 111,238 
 Loss in fair value (3,429)  (17,128)  (7,202)  (11,291)

 At December 31, 116,551 119,980 92,745 99,947 

 Consumable biological assets represent the fair value of standing canes. The fair value has been arrived at by 
discounting the present value of expected net cash flows discounted at the relevant market determined pre-tax 
rate. 

 The expected cash flows have been computed by estimating the expected crop and the sugar extraction rate and 
the forecasts of sugar prices which will prevail in the coming year.

 The harvesting costs and other direct costs are based on yearly budgets.

 The principal assumptions used are:

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Expected price of sugar per ton (Rs)  15,000 15,300 15,000 15,300 
 Expected sugar accruing (Tonnes)  20,336 20,020 16,073 16,222 
 Expected average extraction rate (%)  10.41 10.20 10.41 10.20 
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24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvABLES

  GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Trade receivables  562,965 984,304 87,722 98,372 
 Prepayments and other receivables  746,193 395,995 404,465 123,636 
 Land expenses deferred  134,237 163,381 110,168 163,381 

   1,443,395 1,543,680 602,355 385,389 

 Trade debtors represents mainly electricity and sugar proceeds receivable. The sugar proceeds receivable are paid 
by the Mauritius Sugar Syndicate (MSS) as and when proceeds are received. Advances on sugar proceeds paid by 
the MSS on a weekly basis and the final settlement for a crop year is made at latest in June of the following year.

 Electricity proceeds receivable are generally paid on 30 days terms.

 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values.

 At December 31, 2009, no trade and other receivables was impaired (2008: Rs.18,000,000). Provision for impairment 
at December 31, 2009 was Rs.10,000,000 (2008: Rs.28,750,000). Provision for impairment represents receivables due 
for more than one year.  At December 31, 2009, other receivables of Rs.61,112,974 were past due but not impaired 
(2008: Rs.77,785,564).

 The carrying amounts of the company’s trade and other receivables are all denominated in the Mauritian Rupee.
 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned 

above.

25 RECEIvABLE FROM RELATED PARTIES

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Holding company  1,170 50 170 50 
 Subsidiary companies -  - 1,252,427 1,056,440 
 Related companies  35,456 27,925 21,469 27,925 
 Associated company  28,187  -  - - 

   64,813 27,975 1,274,066 1,084,415 

 Receivable from related parties bear interest between 9.25% to 12% per annum (2008: 11%).

26 SHARE CAPITAL

   THE GROUP &  
 THE COMPANY 

   2009 2008 
  Rs’000 Rs’000

 Issued and Fully paid

 67,012,404 ordinary shares of Rs.7.50 each  502,593 502,593 
 Share Premium account  292,450 292,450 

   795,043 795,043
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27 REvALUATION AND OTHER RESERvES

(a) THE GROUP
   Fair  Modernisation 
  Capital Value and agricultural
  Reserve  Reserve Reserve  Total
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, 2009  4,143,564   222,295   206,186 4,572,045 
 Fair value adjustment -  (189,184) -  (189,184)
 Transfer to retained earnings -  - (13,513)  (13,513)
 Release on sale of land  (3,172) -  - (3,172)

 At December 31, 2009  4,140,392   33,111 192,673 4,366,176 

 At January 1, 2008  4,143,564 316,143 231,783 4,691,490 
 Fair value adjustment -  (93,848) -  (93,848)
 Transfer to retained earnings -  - (25,597)  (25,597)

 At December 31, 2008  4,143,564 222,295   206,186 4,572,045 

(b) THE COMPANY
   Fair  Modernisation 
  Capital Value and agricultural
  Reserve  Reserve Reserve  Total
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1, 2009  3,583,699   212,495   206,186 4,002,380 
 Fair value adjustment -  (195,951) -  (195,951)
 Transfer to retained earnings -  - (13,513)  (13,513)
 Release on sale of land  (3,172) -  - (3,172)

 At December 31, 2009  3,580,527   16,544 192,673 3,789,744 

 At January 1, 2008  3,583,699 312,324 231,783 4,127,806 
 Fair value adjustment -  (99,829) -  (99,829)
 Transfer to retained earnings -  - (25,597)  (25,597)

 At December 31, 2008  3,583,699 212,495   206,186 4,002,380 

28 BORROWINGS

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Current
 Bank overdrafts (note 28 (a))  1,985,266 1,541,636 1,203,088 914,890 
 Bank loans (note 28 (b))  798,675 519,428 221,493 375,085 
 Other loans (note 28 (c))  281,835 126,048 276,728 126,048 

   3,065,776 2,187,112 1,701,309 1,416,023 

 Non-current
 Bank loans (note 28(b))  4,351,799 4,651,453 652,976 758,100 

 Total Borrowings  7,417,575 6,838,565 2,354,285 2,174,123 



Omnicane Limited Annual Report  2009   P. 95

for the year ended December 31, 2009
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Bank overdrafts

 The bank overdrafts are secured by floating charges on the group’s assets. The rate of interest on bank overdrafts 
varied between 8.13% and 12.50% during the year.

(b) Bank loans

 The bank loans are secured by floating charges on the group’s assets and bearing interest at rates between 4% and 
10.50% per annum.

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 The maturity of non-current bank loans are as follows:
 - After one year and before two years  318,442 519,428 125,005 144,415 
 - After two years and before five years  953,607 937,005 292,302 383,015 
 - After five years  3,079,750 3,195,020 235,669 230,670 

   4,351,799   4,651,453   652,976   758,100 

(c) Other loans

 Other loans bear interest between 7.50% and 11.25% per annum (2008: 7.50% and 11.25%)

(d) All the group’s borrowings bear floating interest rates, which change when the Bank of Mauritius changes its Repo 
rate.

(e) The carrying amounts of the group’s and the company’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Mauritian Rupee  6,917,061 6,838,565 2,354,285 2,174,123 
 Euro  500,514  -  -  -

   7,417,575 6,838,565 2,354,285 2,174,123 

(f ) The effective interest rates at the date of the statement of financial position were as follows:

  2009 2008

  Rs Euro Rs
 GROUP % % %

 Bank overdrafts 8.13 - 10.13 - 9.13 - 12.50
 Bank borrowings 7.50 - 10.13  4.00 - 4.50  6.50 - 10.50
 Other loans 7.50 - 11.25 - 7.50 - 11.25

   2009 2008
   Rs Rs
 COMPANY  % %

 Bank overdrafts  8.13 - 8.65 8.13 - 8.65
 Bank borrowings  6.50 - 10.13 6.50 - 10.50
 Other loans  7.50 - 11.25 7.50 - 11.25
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29 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

 Disclosed as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Defined benefit plan  14,956 15,652 (15,432)  (19,109)
 Other retirement benefits  71,036 75,016 28,597 24,859 

   85,992   90,668   13,165   5,750 

 Retirement benefit obligations comprise mainly the group’s and the company’s pension scheme and other post 
retirement benefits. 

 Defined benefit plan

 Staff are covered by a non-contributory Death and Retirement (defined benefit) Scheme administered by the 
Anglo-Mauritius Assurance Society Limited and by a contributory defined benefit scheme (SIPF 2) managed by 
the Sugar Industry Fund Board.

 Other retirement benefits

 Other retirement benefits relate to gratuities on death and retirement that are based on length of service and 
salaries at the date of death or retirement.

(a) Defined benefit plan

 (i)  The amounts recognised in statement of  financial position are as follows: 

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Present value of funded obligations  180,831 198,219 86,536 87,565 
 Fair value of plan assets  (150,483) (131,631)  (84,222)  (75,459)

   30,348 66,588 2,314 12,106 
 Present value of unfunded obligations
 Unrecognised actuarial losses  (15,392)  (50,936)  (17,746)  (31,215)

 Liability in the statement of financial position  14,956 15,652 (15,432)  (19,109)

(ii) The movement in the present value of obligations  
for the year is as follows:

 At January 1,  198,219 224,063 87,565 106,612 
 Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries -  -  -  - 
 Current service cost  9,071 9,439 2,792 3,187 
 Interest cost  22,593 18,778 9,868 8,416 
 Actuarial losses  (30,254)  38,705 (10,897)  22,792 
 Benefits paid  (31,338)  (96,552)  (3,618)  (58,066)
 Contribution from plan participants -  826 838 
 Curtailments losses  12,540 3,786  -  3,786 

 At December 31,  180,831 198,219 86,536 87,565
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29 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(iii) The movement in the fair value of plan assets  for the year is as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1,  131,632 242,953 75,459 147,670 
 Expected return on plan assets  15,328 21,796 8,627 13,090 
 Contributions from employer  8,578 13,379 1,855 10,014 
 Contributions from participants -  - 826 837 
 Benefits paid  (5,166)  (85,917)  (3,620)  (58,066)
 Asset gain 111 (60,580)  1,075 (38,086)

 At December 31,  150,483 131,631 84,222 75,459 

(iv) The amounts recognised in statement  of comprehensive income are as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Current service cost  9,071 9,438 2,793 3,187 
 Interest cost  22,593 18,778 9,867 8,416 
 Expected return on plan assets  (15,329)  (21,797)  (8,627)  (13,088)
 Net actuarial gains recognised during  5,180 (1,627)  1,497 (1,064)
 Losses on curtailments  12,540 3,786  -  3,786 
 Contribution by employees  (1,650)  (1,972) -  - 

 Total, included in employee benefit expense 32,405 6,606 5,530 1,237 

 Actual return on plan assets  9,851 (25,423)  9,701 (24,997)

(v) Liability movements in the statement of financial positions:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1,  15,652 31,086 (19,109)  (10,332)
 Acquisition of subsidiaries -  -  -  - 
 Total expense as above  32,405 6,607 5,530 1,237 
 Contributions paid  (33,101)  (22,041)  (1,855)  (10,014)

 At December 31,  14,956 15,652 (15,434)  (19,109)

(vi) History of obligations, assets and experience adjustments:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Fair value of plan assets  150,484 198,219 84,222 147,670 
 Present value of defined benefit obligation  (180,831)  131,631 (86,535)  (87,565)

 Surplus  (30,347)  329,850 (2,313)  60,105 

 Asset experience gains/(losses)  28,805 (72,787)  11,217 (49,059)
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29 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(vii) Major asset categories as percentage of plan assets:

   THE GROUP &  
 THE COMPANY 

   2009 2008 
  % %
 Local:
 - Equities  27.10 37.00 
 - Property  22.30 - 
 - Debt maturity >=12 mths  14.80 - 
 - Cash & Debt maturity <12 mths  10.60 9.00 

 Overseas:
 - Equities  17.60 27.10 
 - Property  2.20 9.50 
 - Cash and debt maturity < 12 months  5.40 17.40 

 Total  100.00 100.00 

(viii) Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending December 31, 2010 for the Group 
and the Company are Rs.2,051,576 and Rs.2,003,908 respectively.

(ix) The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:

   THE GROUP &  
 THE COMPANY 

   2009 2008 
  % %

 Discount rate  10.50 11.50 
 Expected return on plan assets  11.00 11.50 
 Future salary increases  6.00 9.00 
 Future pension increases  4.00 5.00 

(b) Other retirement benefits

(i) The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Present value of unfunded obligations  64,726 73,522 27,754 24,188 
 Unrecognised actuarial gain  6,310 1,494 843 671 

   71,036 75,016 28,597 24,859 

(ii) The movement in the present value of obligations for the year is as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1,  73,522 31,987 24,189 25,823 
 Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries -  42,707  -  - 
 Current service cost  2,922 1,534 1,159 1,075 
 Interest cost  7,876 3,049 2,771 2,413 
 Benefits paid  (51,415)  (14,402)  (192)  (13,550)
 Liability loss  (1,945)  (2,130)  (173)  (1,686)
 Curtailments losses  33,766 10,777  -  10,114 

 At December 31,  64,726 73,522 27,754 24,189
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29 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

(iii) The amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Current service cost  2,922 1,534 1,159 1,075 
 Interest cost  7,876 3,049 2,771 2,413 
 Actuarial losses  (3,439) -  - - 
 Curtailments losses  40,076 10,777  -  10,114 

 Total, included in employee benefit expense 47,435 15,360 3,930 13,602 

(iv) Liability movements in the statement of financial position:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 At January 1,  75,016 31,138 24,859 24,806 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries -  42,707  -  - 
 Total expense as above  47,435 15,360 3,930 13,602 
 Contributions paid  (51,415)  (14,189)  (192)  (13,549)

 At December 31,  71,036 75,016 28,597 24,859 

30 PROvISIONS FOR BLUE PRINT AND ERS COSTS

   THE GROUP  

  2009 & 2008 
  Rs’000

 Blue Print and Early Retirement Scheme costs  276,055 

 Provisions for land and infrastructure costs relate to future expenditure to be incurred for land and infrastructure 
cost to be granted to employees who opted for the Blue Print and Early Retirement Scheme for Omnicane Milling 
Operations Limited.

31 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Trade payables  209,270 344,967 27,403 42,073 
 Other payables and accrued expenses  435,884 345,042 62,707 51,885 

  645,154 690,009 90,110 93,958 

 The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.
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32 DIvIDENDS

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Interim dividend of Rs.Nil (2008: Rs.1) 
 per share paid -  67,012  -  67,012 
 Final dividend of Rs.2 (2008: Rs.1) 
 per share proposed 134,024 67,012 134,024 67,012 

   134,024   134,024  134,024   134,024 

33 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 Operating leases relate to lands leased from Government of Mauritius with lease terms of 99 years. Nothing in 
the lease arrangements, due to expire in year 2061, provides for any possibility of cancellation. The leases do not 
provide for renewal.

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Operating leases expensed during the year  1,517 80 815 80 

 At the statement of financial position date the company has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 - Within one year  1,518 80 815 80 
 - Between two and five years  2,500 319 280 319 
 - After five years  47,000 3,825 1,490 3,825 

   51,018 4,224 2,585 4,224 

34 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Capital expenditure approved by the Board:
 - not contracted 92,261  1,110,506  3,723 34,306  
 - contracted  36,933 - 24,378 -

   129,194 1,110,506 28,101 34,306 

35 HOLDING COMPANY

 The ultimate holding company is Omnicane Holdings Limited (Formerly BBHM Holdings Limited), which is 
incorporated in Mauritius.
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36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 There are no significant contingent liabilities given by the company to third parties. 

 At December 31 2009, the group had contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees and other 
matters arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will 
crystalise. In the ordinary course of business the group has given guarantees amounting to Rs.278.2 M (2008: 
Rs.209.8 M) to third parties.

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) THE GROUP

 
 Sale of Sale of Amount Amount
 Investment goods and services due from owed to

 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Holding company  - -  - -  1,170  50  -  -
 Associated company  -  - 33,595 - 28,187 -    - -
 Company controlled by  

significant shareholder  - -  - - 35,456 27,925 13,203 13,218

 Company with  
common directors  310,000 -  - - 310,000 27,925 -  -

 Total 310,000 -  33,595 - 374,813 27,975 13,203 13,218

 The above transactions have been made at arms’ length, on normal commercial terms and in the normal course of 
business.

(b) THE COMPANY

  Sale of Sale / (Purchase) of Investment income Amount Amount
  Investment goods and services / (expense) due from owed to

  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Holding company  - -  - - - - 170 50  - -
 Subsidiaries  - -  - - 115,957 49,025 1,252,427 1,056,440  - 65
 Company controlled by  

significant shareholder  - -  (31,607)  (12,116)  (849)  911 21,469 27,925  13,203 13,218
 Company with common 

directors 310,000 - -  - - - 310,000 -  - -

 Total 310,000 -  (31,607)  (12,116)  115,108 49,936 1,584,066 1,084,415  13,203 13,283

 The above transactions have been made at arms’ length, on normal commercial terms and in the normal course of 
business.

(i) Key Management Personnel Compensation

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Short-term benefits  10,554 5,370 4,432 5,198 
 Post-employment benefits  - 554 - 554 

   10,554 5,924 4,432 5,752 



Omnicane Limited Annual Report  2009 P. 102

for the year ended December 31, 2009
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The Group is organised into the following main business segments:-

 Primary reporting format - business segments

  Sugar Energy Others Total
  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Segment revenue  838,112 364,016 2,274,954 - 79,001 96,499 3,192,067 460,515 

 Operating profit  37,524 28,372 650,243 - 9,506 10,358 697,273 38,730 

 Share of results of associates net of tax       (788)  23,578 
 Investment and other income        80,689 102,587 
 VRS and centralisation amortisation       (5,368)  (10,774)
 Exceptional items        285,796 240,052 
 Finance costs        (711,980)  (78,961)

 Profit before tax        345,622 315,212 
 Tax        (22,557)  7,833 

 Group profit        323,065 323,045 
 Minority interests        (64,666)  (39,156)

 Net profit        258,399 283,889 

  Sugar Energy Others Total
  2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
  Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Segment assets  8,984,447 7,448,073 5,200,803 6,159,580 53,188 35,507 14,238,438 13,643,160 

 Associates      30,677 20,890 30,677 20,890 
 Unallocated corporate  

assets      881,720 963,533 881,720 963,533 

         15,150,835 14,627,583 

 Segment liabilities  4,095,040 3,212,789 4,442,898 4,651,414 49,228 31,002 8,587,166 7,895,205 
 Unallocated corporate  

liabilities      28,188 133,397 28,188 133,397 
 Shareholders’ funds and  

minority interests      6,535,481 6,598,981 6,535,481 6,598,981 

         15,150,835 14,627,583 

 Interest income  42,760 73,754 20,977 - - - 63,737 73,754 
 Interest expense  268,129 78,961 458,805 - - - 726,934 78,961 
 Capital expenditure  821,276 32,368 50,872 54,243 7,356 3,228 879,504 89,839 
 Depreciation  103,747 23,514 241,266 - 4,135 4,333 349,148 27,847 
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39 THREE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

(a) THE GROUP

   2009 2008 2007 
   Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 

 Issued and fully paid up share capital 795,043  795,043  795,043 
 Revaluation and other reserves 4,366,176  4,572,045  4,983,940 
 Revenue reserves 661,097  523,394  425,720 
 Profit before taxation 345,622  315,212  218,205 
 Profit after taxation and minority interests 258,399  283,889  201,082 
 Dividends  134,024  134,024  167,530 

 Dividend per share (Rs)  2.00 2.00 2.50 

(b) THE COMPANY

 Issued and fully paid up share capital 795,043  795,043  795,043 
 Revaluation & other reserves 3,789,744  4,002,380  4,420,256
 Revenue reserves 509,349  336,454  342,277 
 Profit before taxation 291,289  103,895  164,940 
 Profit after taxation 293,406  102,604  153,775 
 Dividends  134,024  134,024  167,530 

 Dividend per share (Rs)  2.00 2.00 2.50

40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Capital Risk Management

 The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The group made 
the acquisition of a controlling interest in energy companies in December 2008. These companies have a highly 
geared capital structure, with project-financed debts of Rs 3.9 Billion which are ring-fenced and does not affect the 
borrowing capacity of the company.

 The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes borrowings disclosed in note 28, cash and 
cash equivalents  and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and 
retained earnings.

 Gearing ratio

 The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Debt  7,417,575 6,838,565 2,354,285 2,174,123
 Cash and cash equivalents  (810,737)  (460,160)  (12,860)  (9,630)

 Net debt  6,606,838 6,252,357 2,341,425 2,164,493

 Equity  5,822,316 5,890,482 5,094,136 5,133,877 

 Net debt to equity ratio 113% 95% 46% 42%

(i) Debt is defined as long and short term borrowings, as detailed in note 28, including bank overdrafts.

(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the group and the company excluding minorities.
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40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Categories of financial instruments

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Financial assets
 Trade and other receivables  1,443,395   1,543,680 602,355 385,389 
 Receivable from related parties  64,813   27,975 1,274,066 1,084,415 
 Investments in financial assets  60,944   298,267 43,155 287,152 
 Cash and cash equivalents  810,737   460,160 12,860 9,630 

   2,379,889 2,330,082 1,932,436 1,766,586 

 Financial liabilities
 Long term borrowings  4,351,799   4,651,453   652,976   758,100 
 Trade and other payables  645,154   815,957   90,110   220,006 
 Short term borrowings  1,080,510   519,428   498,221   375,085 
 Payable to related parties  3,065,776   13,218   13,203   13,283 
 Dividend payable  134,024 67,012 134,024 67,012 
 Bank overdrafts  1,985,266   1,541,636   1,203,088   914,890 

  11,262,529  7,608,704  2,591,622  2,348,376 

 Market risk

 The Group’s activities is mainly in the production of electricity and sugar.  The market strategy for the sale of raw 
and white refined sugar rests with the Mauritius Sugar Syndicate (MSS) which is responsible for negotiating the 
sale of the sugar production of the country with potential buyers.  With the reduction in raw sugar price, sugar 
companies have erected sugar refinery plants to move to the production of white sugar as from 2009.  There is a 
much wider and diverse demand for white sugar in Europe which mitigates the market risk.

 For energy production the sale is made solely to the Central Electricity Board and is based on a Power Purchase 
Agreement for both energy companies.

 Financial risk management 

 Foreign currency risk management
 The group’s main revenue is derived from sugar sales which is based in Euro. The group is therefore exposed 

to foreign exchange risk arising from Euro.  However, management of these risk is done by the MSS through its 
hedging committee. The residual currency risks to which the acquired energy companies are exposed is negligible. 

 Currency profile
 The currency profile of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the group and company is summarised as 

follows:

 THE GROUP 
 Financial Assets Financial Liabilities
  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 United States Dollar 1,680 1,543 - -   
 Euro 951 5,460 500,514 1,080 

 Concentration in foreign currencies  2,631 7,003 500,514 1,080 
 Mauritian Rupee  2,377,258 2,323,079 10,762,015 7,607,624 

   2,379,889 2,330,082 11,262,529 7,608,704 

 THE COMPANY

 United States Dollar 1,680 1,522 - -
 Euro 951 - - 1,080 

 Concentration in foreign currencies  2,631 1,522 - 1,080 
 Mauritian Rupee  1,929,805 1,765,064 2,591,622 2,347,296 

   1,932,436 1,766,586 2,591,622 2,348,376 

 The group and the company are mainly exposed to the United States Dollar currency.
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 The following table details the group’s and company’s sensitivity to a 5 % increase and decrease in the Mauritian 
Rupee against the United States Dollar and the Euro currency.  A positive number below indicates an decrease 
in profit where the Mauritian Rupee strengthens 5 % against the United States Dollar and the Euro.  For a 5 % 
weakening of the Mauritian Rupee against the United States Dollar and the Euro currency, there would be an equal 
and opposite impact on the profit, and the balances below would be negative.

  US DOLLAR IMPACT

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Decrease in profit  84 77 84 76 

  EURO IMPACT

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 (Increase)/decrease in profit  (24,978)  219 48 (54)

 The above is mainly attributable to differences on translation of cash resources in the above currency.

 Interest rate risk management
 The group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest 

rates. The risk is managed by the group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate 
borrowings.  The effect of interest rate movements in respect of loans of the energy companies are mitigated by 
an indexation to the capacity fee receivable.

 The interest rate profile of the group’s and company’s financial assets and financial liabilities at December 31, was:

  Percentage per Annum
  2009 2008

 Financial assets
 Receivable from related parties 9.25 to 12.00 10.25 to 13.25
 Cash resources 6.00 to 7.50 6.00 to 7.50

 Financial liablilities
 Payable to related parties 9.25 to 12.00 10.50 to 13.00
 Borrowings 4.00 to 10.50 6.50 to 10.50
 Bank overdrafts 8.13 to 12.50 9.13 to 12.50

 Interest rate sensitivity analysis

 The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative 
financial instruments at the reporting date. For floating rate liabilities/assets, the analysis is prepared assuming the 
amount of liability outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year.  
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 If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s and the 
company’s results would be affected as follows:

 Interest rate sensitivity analysis

 GROUP COMPANY

  2009 2008 2009 2008
 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 Decrease in profit  (31,462)  (32,642)  (5,109)  (10,192)

 Had the interest rates been 50 basis points lower and all other variables were held constant, there would be an 
equal and opposite impact on profit.

 Other price risks
 The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity instruments.  Equity instruments are held for strategic 

rather than trading purposes.  The Group and the company do not actively trade these investments.

 Credit risk management
 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, 

represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained.

 The Group’s main debtors are the Mauritius Sugar Syndicate on account of sugar proceeds receivable, and the 
Central Electricity Board for the sale of electricity.

 The Group’s energy cluster’s credit risk is highly mitigated by the fact that accounts receivable from its sole 
customer, the Central Electricity Board, is guaranteed by the Government.

 Liquidity risk management
 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors. The Group manages 

liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

 For energy companies, a debt-service reserve account provide for fund dedicated for the servicing of debts.
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 Liquidity and interest risk tables
 The following tables detail the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The 

tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date 
on which the group can be required to pay. 

  THE GROUP

  Weighted
  average   Between
  effective  Within 1 and
  interest rate At Call one year 5 years Total
  % Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2009
 Payable to related parties 10.75 14,223      -        - 14,223  
 Borrowings 8.50 281,835 318,442 4,033,357 4,633,634  
 Bank overdrafts 10.31 1,985,266      -        - 1,985,266  

   2,281,324 318,442 4,033,357 6,633,123  

 2008
 Payable to related parties 11.75 13,218      -        - 13,218  
 Borrowings 8.50        - 519,428 4,651,453 5,170,881  
 Bank overdrafts 10.81 1,541,636      -        - 1,541,636  

   1,554,854 519,428 4,651,453 6,725,735  

  THE COMPANY

  Weighted
  average   Between
  effective  Within 1 and
  interest rate At Call one year 5 years Total
  % Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

 2009
 Payable to related parties 10.75  13,203 - - 13,203 
 Borrowings 8.50  276,728 125,005 527,971 929,704 
 Bank overdrafts 10.31  1,203,088 - - 1,203,088 

    1,493,019 125,005 527,971 2,145,995 

 2008
 Payable to related parties 11.75  13,283 - - 13,283 
 Borrowings 8.50  - 375,085 758,100 1,133,185 
 Bank overdrafts 10.81  914,890 - - 914,890 

    928,173 375,085 758,100 2,061,358
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NOTICE OF MEETING TO SHAREHOLDERS

Notice is hereby given that the 84th annual meeting of the members of the Company will be held in the conference 
room of the Port-Louis City Club, 8th Floor, Anglo-Mauritius House, Adolphe de Plevitz Street, Port-Louis, on 29 June 
2010 at 10.00hrs to transact the following business:

1 To consider and approve the Annual Report including the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2009.

2 to 5 To re-appoint as directors the following persons who retire by rotation in terms of Clause 20.5 of the 
Constitution and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election (as separate resolutions):

2 Mr Georges Leung Shing

3 Mr Bertrand Thevenau

4 Mr Marc Hein

5 Mr Jacques de Navacelle

6 To re-appoint as directors in a single resolution, Mr Pierre M. d’Unienville and Mr Kishore Sunil Banymandhub, 
who appointed as directors since the last annual meeting, retire in terms of the Constitution and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

7 To re-appoint Mr Hugues Maigrot as director to hold office until the next annual meeting in accordance with 
section 138(6)  of the Companies Act 2001.

8 Dividends

  To ratify the payment of the dividends of Rs 2.00 per share declared by the directors and paid on 25 March 
2010.

9 Directors’ fees

 To fix the directors’ fees for the year ending 31 December 2010.

10 To take note of the automatic re-appointed of the auditors under Section 200 of the Companies Act 2001 and 
to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead. The proxy 
need not be a member of the Company but the proxy forms should reach the Company’s registered office, 7th Floor, Anglo-
Mauritius House, Adolphe de Plevitz Street, Port-Louis not less than twenty four hours before the time for holding the meeting. 

By order of the Board

Eddie Ah-Cham, F.C.C.A.
for Omnicane Management & Consultancy Limited
Secretaries 

07 April 2010
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PROXY FORM FOR THE 84th ANNUAL MEETING

I/We ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..……….………….…

of …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

being a shareholder/s of Omnicane Limited, do hereby appoint

Mr/Ms……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

of ……………………………………………………………………………………….………….…….…….   ..or  failing him/her 

Mr/Ms………….…………………………………………………………………………………….………………….…….…….……..

of ……………………………………………………………………………………………………….…….…….…….………………..

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday 29  June 2010 at 10:00 hrs and at 
any adjournment thereof.

I/We desire my/our vote(s) to be cast on the Resolution as follows:
Mark with X where applicable

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

1 To consider and approve the Annual Report including the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

2 To re-appoint as director Mr Georges Leung Shing

3 To re-appoint as director Mr Bertrand Thevenau

4 To re-appoint as director Mr Marc Hein

5 To re-appoint as director Mr Jacques  de Navacelle

6 To re-appoint as directors in a single resolution, Mr Pierre M. d’Unienville and  
Mr Kishore Sunil Banymandhub, who appointed as directors since the last annual 
meeting, retire in terms of the Constitution and, being eligible, offer themselves  
for re-election.

7 To re-appoint Mr Hugues Maigrot as director to hold office until the next annual 
meeting in accordance with section 138(6) of the Companies Act 2001.

8 To ratify the payment of the dividends per share of Rs 2.00 declared by the directors 
and paid on  25 March 2010.

9 To fix the directors’ fees for the year ending 31 December 2010.

10 To take note of the automatic re-appointed of the auditors under Section 200 of the 
Companies Act 2001 and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

Signed this ……………… day of ……………………… 2010 Number of shares held

 (1 share = 1 vote)

 
Signature …………………………………………. 

Notes:

1 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to 
appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her 
stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2 If this proxy form is returned without any indication as to how the 
proxy should vote, the proxy will be entitled to vote or abstain from 
voting as he/she thinks fit.

3 A minor must be assisted by his/her guardian.

4 The authority of a person signing a proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to the proxy unless that authority has 
already been recorded by the Company.

5 In order to be effective, proxy forms must reach the 
 registered office of the Company, 7th floor, Anglo Mauritius House, 

Adolphe de Plevitz Street, Port-Louis not later that 10.00 on Monday 
28 June 2010.

6 The delivery of the duly completed form shall not prelude any 
member or his/her duly authorised representative from attending 
the meeting, speaking and voting instead of such duly appointed 
proxy.

7 If two or more proxies attend the meeting, then that person 
attending the meeting whose name appears first on the proxy form, 
and whose name is not deleted, shall be regarded as the validly 
appointed proxy.
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